A MATRIX OF SELECTED CLAUSES IN THREE STANDARD FORM CONTRACTS

Prepared by:

Matthew A. Gillies R. Harper Heckman Brian M. Perlberg

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Matrix	Clauses	Page
	Table of Contents	2
	Acknowledgments	3
	About the Authors	4
	General Conditions	
1.	Project Schedule	5
2.	Delegation of Design Responsibility	7
3.	Change Orders	9
4.	Owner Directed Changes	11
5.	Delays/Time Extensions	14
6.	Applications for Payment—Progress Payments	16
7.	Applications for Payment—Stored Materials	17
8.	Certificates of Payment—Designer Representations as to Progress Payments	18
9.	Applications for Payment—Adjustments	20
10.	Differing Site Conditions	22
11.	Substantial Completion	25
12.	Indemnification	26
13.	Claims Notice Requirements	28
14.	Dispute Resolution—Early Methods—No Neutral	29
15.	Dispute Resolution—Rediation Dispute Resolution—Mediation	31
16.	Dispute Resolution—Arbitration and Other Binding Methods	32
17.	Dispute Resolution—Consolidation or Joinder of Parties	33
18.	Dispute Resolution—Consequential Damages	34
19.	Dispute Resolution—Award of Attorney's Fees to Prevailing Party	36
20.	Contractor's Warranty	37
21.	One-Year Correction Period	38
22.	Owner's Suspension of Performance	41
23.	Termination by Contractor for Cause	42
24.	Termination by Owner for Contractor's Default	44
25.	Termination for Owner's Convenience	47
	Owner/Designer Agreement	17
26.	Ownership and Use of Design Documents	49
27.	Consolidation and Joinder	52
28.	Payment Application Approval	53
29.	Submittal Review	55
30.	On-site Observations	57
31.	Hazardous Materials	59
32.	Indemnification and Consequential Damages Waiver	60

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The American Bar Association and the authors wish to thank the following associations or coalitions for providing their assistance with this publication, including providing the authors with electronic copies of their copyrighted standard forms, which greatly aided in the preparation of these materials:

The American Institute of Architects 1735 New York Ave., NW Washington, DC 20006-5292

ConsensusDOCSTM
2300 Wilson Boulevard, Suite 400
Arlington, VA 22201

The National Society of Professional Engineers (Acting on Behalf of EJCDC)
1420 King Street
Alexandria, VA 22314-2794

ABOUT THE AUTHORS

Matthew A. Gillies is a Member of Stites & Harbison PLLC, located in the firm's Louisville, Kentucky office. Mr. Gillies received his civil engineering and law degrees from the University of Kentucky. Combining practical construction experience with legal experience gained in both the law firm setting and as in-house counsel for a large international EPC firm, Mr. Gillies concentrates his practice on transactions and litigation associated with the engineering and construction industries. Mr. Gillies is a member of the ABA Construction Law Forum's Contract Documents (Division 2) Steering Committee; a Contributing Editor and Hard Hat Case Note Editor for the Forum's journal, *The Construction Lawyer*; the Vice-Chairman of the Ohio Valley Chapter of the Design-Build Institute of America; and the ABA's liaison to the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee. Contact: email: mgillies@stites.com. Phone: 502-681-0589.

R. Harper Heckman is a Member of Nexsen Pruet Adams Kleemeier, PLLC in the firm's Greensboro, NC office. Mr. Heckman received his B.A. degree and his law degree, with honors, from the University of North Carolina. He is a member of the American Bar Association, where he chaired the Construction Forum's Contract Documents Steering Committee and the North Carolina Bar Association, where he is a past Chair of the Construction Law Section. Contact: e-mail: HHeckman@nexsenpruet.com. Phone: 336-387-5181.

Brian M. Perlberg is Senior Counsel of Construction Law and Contract Documents at the Associated General Contractors of America (AGC). Mr. Perlberg serves as the lead staff liaison for the new ConsensusDOCSTM contracts and forms, the first consensus standard contracts written by and for the entire construction industry. Prior to joining AGC, he was the General Counsel of the Design-Build Institute of America (DBIA). He was also a Councilmember on the Maryland Green Buildings Council. Mr. Perlberg is a member of the Bar of Maryland and the District of Columbia. Contact: e-mail: perlbergb@agc.org. Phone: 703-837-5318.

1. PROJECT SCHEDULE

AIA-A201 (2007)

3.10 CONTRACTORS' CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULES

- **3.10.1** The Contractor, promptly after being awarded the Contract, shall prepare and submit for the Owner's and Architect's information a Contractor's construction schedule for the Work. The schedule shall not exceed time limits current under the Contract Documents, shall be revised at appropriate intervals as required by the conditions of the Work and Project, shall be related to the entire Project to the extent required by the Contract Documents, and shall provide for expeditious and practicable execution of the Work.
- **3.10.3** The Contractor shall perform the Work in general accordance with the most recent schedules submitted to the Owner and Architect.

ConsensusDOCSTM–200 (2007)

6.2 SCHEDULE OF THE WORK

- **6.2.1** Before submitting the first application for payment, the Contractor shall submit to the Owner, and if directed, its Architect/Engineer, a Schedule of Work that shall show the dates on which the Contractor plans to commence and complete various parts of the Work, including dates on which information and approvals are required from the Owner. On the Owner's written approval of the Schedule of the Work, the Contractor shall comply with it unless directed by the Owner to do otherwise or the Contractor is otherwise entitled to an adjustment in the Contract Time. The Contractor shall update the Schedule of the Work on a monthly basis or at appropriate intervals as required by the conditions of the Work and the Project.
- **6.2.2** The Owner may determine the sequence in which the Work shall be performed, provided it does not unreasonably interfere with the Schedule of the Work. The Owner may require the Contractor to make reasonable changes in the sequence at any time during the performance of the Work in order to facilitate the performance of work by the Owner or Others. To the extent such changes increase Contractor's time and costs the Contract Price and Contract Time shall be equitably adjusted.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

2.05 BEFORE STARTING CONSTRUCTION

- **A.** Preliminary Schedules: Within 10 days after the Effective Date of the Agreement (unless otherwise specified in the General Requirements), Contractor shall submit to Engineer for timely review:
- 1. a preliminary Progress Schedule; indicating the times (numbers of days or dates) for starting and completing the various stages of the Work, including any Milestones specified in the Contract Documents:

2.07 INITIAL ACCEPTANCE OF SCHEDULES

- **A.** At least 10 days before submission of the first Application for Payment, a conference attended by Contractor, Engineer, and others as appropriate will be held to review for acceptability to Engineer as provided below the schedules submitted in accordance with Paragraph 2.05.A. Contractor shall have an additional 10 days to make corrections and adjustments and to complete and resubmit the schedules. No progress payment shall be made to Contractor until acceptable schedules are submitted to Engineer.
- 1. The Progress Schedule will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides an orderly progression of the Work to completion within the Contract Times. Such acceptance will not impose on Engineer

responsibility for the Progress Schedule, for sequencing, scheduling, or progress of the Work, nor interfere with or relieve Contractor from Contractor's full responsibility therefor.

6.04 PROGRESS SCHEDULE

A. Contractor shall adhere to the Progress Schedule established in accordance with Paragraph 2.07 as it may be adjusted from time to time as provided below.

2. DELEGATION OF DESIGN RESPONSIBILITY

AIA-A201 (2007)

3.12.10 The Contractor shall not be required to provide professional services which constitute the practice of architecture or engineering unless such services are specifically required by the Contract Documents for a portion of the Work, or unless the Contractor needs to provide such services in order to carry out the Contractor's responsibilities for construction means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures. The Contractor shall not be required to provide professional services in violation of applicable law. If professional design services or certifications by a design professional related to systems, materials or equipment are specifically required of the Contractor by the Contract Documents, the Owner and the Architect will specify all performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy. The Contractor shall cause such services or certifications to be provided by a properly licensed design professional, whose signature and seal shall appear on all drawings, calculations, specifications, certifications, Shop Drawings and other submittals prepared by such professional. Shop Drawings and other submittals related to the Work designed or certified by such professional, if prepared by others, shall bear such professional's written approval when submitted to the Architect. The Owner and the Architect shall be entitled to rely upon the adequacy, accuracy and completeness of the services, certifications or approvals performed by such design professionals, provided the Owner and Architect have specified to the Contractor all performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy. Pursuant to this Section 3.12.10, the Architect will review, approve or take other appropriate action on submittals only for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with information given and the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents. The Contractor shall not be responsible for the adequacy of the performance or design criteria specified in the Contract Documents.

ConsensusDOCSTM-A200 (2007)

3.15 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES The Contractor may be required to procure professional services in order to carry out its responsibilities for construction means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures for such services specifically called for by the Contract Documents. The Contractor shall obtain these professional services and any design certifications required from licensed design professionals. All drawings, specifications, calculations, certifications and submittals prepared by such design professionals shall bear the signature and seal of such design professionals and the Owner and the Architect/Engineer shall be entitled to rely upon the adequacy, accuracy and completeness of such design services. If professional services are specifically required by the Contract Documents, the Owner shall indicate all required performance and design criteria. The Contractor shall not be responsible for the adequacy of such performance and design criteria. The Contractor shall not be required to provide such services in violation of existing laws, rules and regulations in the jurisdiction where the Project is located.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

6.21 DELEGATION OF PROFESSIONAL DESIGN SERVICES

- **A.** Contractor will not be required to provide professional design services unless such services are specifically required by the Contract Documents for a portion of the Work or unless such services are required to carry out Contractor's responsibilities for construction means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures. Contractor shall not be required to provide professional services in violation of applicable law.
- B. If professional design services or certifications by a design professional related to systems,

materials or equipment are specifically required of Contractor by the Contract Documents, Owner and Engineer will specify all performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy. Contractor shall cause such services or certifications to be provided by a properly licensed professional, whose signature and seal shall appear on all drawings, calculations, specifications, certifications, Shop Drawings and other submittals prepared by such professional. Shop Drawings and other submittals related to the Work designed or certified by such professional, if prepared by others, shall bear such professional's written approval when submitted to Engineer.

- **C.** Owner and Engineer shall be entitled to rely upon the adequacy, accuracy and completeness of the services, certifications or approvals performed by such design professionals, provided Owner and Engineer have specified to Contractor all performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy.
- **D.** Pursuant to this Paragraph 6.21, Engineer's review and approval of design calculations and design drawings will be only for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with performance and design criteria given and the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents. Engineer's review and approval of Shop Drawings and other submittals (except design calculations and design drawings) will be only for the purpose stated in Paragraph 6.17.D.1.
- **E.** Contractor shall not be responsible for the adequacy of the performance or design criteria required by the Contract Documents.

3. CHANGE ORDERS

AIA-A201 (2007)

7.2 CHANGE ORDERS

- **7.2.1** A Change Order is a written instrument prepared by the Architect and signed by the Owner, Contractor and Architect, stating their agreement upon all of the following:
- .1 The change in the Work;
- .2 The amount of the adjustment, if any, in the Contract Sum; and
- .3 The extent of the adjustment, if any, in the Contract Time.

ConsensusDOCSTM–200 (2007)

8.1 CHANGE ORDER

- **8.1.1** The Contractor may request and/or the Owner may order changes in the Work or the timing or sequencing of the Work that impacts the Contract Price or the Contract Time. All such changes in the Work that affect Contract Time or Contract Price shall be formalized in a Change Order. Any such requests for a change in the Contract Price and/or the Contract Time shall be processed in accordance with this Article 8.
- **8.1.2** The Owner and the Contractor shall negotiate in good faith an appropriate adjustment to the Contract Price and/or the Contract Time and shall conclude these negotiations as expeditiously as possible. Acceptance of the Change Order and any adjustment in Contract Price and/or Contract Time shall not be unreasonably withheld.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

12.01 CHANGE OF CONTRACT PRICE

- **A.** The Contract Price may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Price shall be based on written notice submitted by the party making the Claim to the Engineer and the other party to the Contract in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 10.05.
- **B.** The value of any Work covered by a Change Order or of any Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Price will be determined as follows
- 1. where the Work involved is covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, by application of such unit prices to the quantities of the items involved (subject to the provisions of Paragraph 11.03);
- 2. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, by a mutually agreed lump sum (which may include an allowance for overhead and profit not necessarily in accordance with Paragraph 12.01.C.2); or
- **3.** where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents and agreement to a lump sum is not reached under Paragraph 12.01.B.2, on the basis of the Cost of the Work (determined as provided in Paragraph 11.01) plus a Contractor's fee for overhead and profit (determined as provided in Paragraph 12.01.C).
- C. Contractor's Fee: The Contractor's fee for overhead and profit shall be determined as follows:
- 1. a mutually acceptable fixed fee; or
- 2. if a fixed fee is not agreed upon, then a fee based on the following percentages of the various portions of the Cost of the Work:
- **a.** for costs incurred under Paragraphs 11.01.A.1 and 11.01.A.2, the Contractor's fee shall be 15 percent;
- **b.** for costs incurred under Paragraph 11.01.A.3, the Contractor's fee shall be five percent;
- c. where one or more tiers of subcontracts are on the basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee and no

fixed fee is agreed upon, the intent of Paragraphs 12.01.C.2.a and 12.01.C.2.b is that the Subcontractor who actually performs the Work, at whatever tier, will be paid a fee of 15 percent of the costs incurred by such Subcontractor under Paragraphs 11.01.A.1 and 11.01.A.2 and that any higher tier Subcontractor and Contractor will each be paid a fee of five percent of the amount paid to the next lower tier Subcontractor;

- **d.** no fee shall be payable on the basis of costs itemized under Paragraphs 11.01.A.4, 11.01.A.5, and 11.01.B;
- **e.** the amount of credit to be allowed by Contractor to Owner for any change which results in a net decrease in cost will be the amount of the actual net decrease in cost plus a deduction in Contractor's fee by an amount equal to five percent of such net decrease; and
- **f.** when both additions and credits are involved in any one change, the adjustment in Contractor's fee shall be computed on the basis of the net change in accordance with Paragraphs 12.01.C.2.a through 12.01.C.2.e, inclusive.

12.02 CHANGE OF CONTRACT TIMES

- **A.** The Contract Times may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Times shall be based on written notice submitted by the party making the Claim to the Engineer and the other party to the Contract in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 10.05.
- **B.** Any adjustment of the Contract Times covered by a Change Order or any Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Times will be determined in accordance with the provisions of this Article 12. Subcontractor who actually performs the Work, at whatever tier, will be paid a fee of 15 percent of the costs incurred by such Subcontractor under Paragraphs 11.01.A.1 and 11.01.A.2 and that any higher tier Subcontractor and Contractor will each be paid a fee of five percent of the amount paid to the next lower tier Subcontractor;
- **d.** no fee shall be payable on the basis of costs itemized under Paragraphs 11.01.A.4, 11.01.A.5, and 11.01.B;
- **e.** the amount of credit to be allowed by Contractor to Owner for any change which results in a net decrease in cost will be the amount of the actual net decrease in cost plus a deduction in Contractor's fee by an amount equal to five percent of such net decrease; and
- **f.** when both additions and credits are involved in any one change, the adjustment in Contractor's fee shall be computed on the basis of the net change in accordance with Paragraphs 12.01.C.2.a through 12.01.C.2.e, inclusive.

12.02 CHANGE OF CONTRACT TIMES

- **A.** The Contract Times may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Times shall be based on written notice submitted by the party making the Claim to the Engineer and the other party to the Contract in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 10.05.
- **B.** Any adjustment of the Contract Times covered by a Change Order or any Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Times will be determined in accordance with the provisions of this Article 12.

4. OWNER DIRECTED CHANGES

AIA-A201 (2007)

7.3 CONSTRUCTION CHANGE DIRECTIVES

- **7.3.1** A Construction Change Directive is a written order prepared by the Architect and signed by the Owner and Architect, directing a change in the Work prior to agreement on adjustment, if any, in the Contract Sum or Contract Time, or both. The Owner may by Construction Change Directive, without invalidating the Contract, order changes in the Work within the general scope of the Contract consisting of additions, deletions or other revisions, the Contract Sum and Contract Time being adjusted accordingly.
- **7.3.2** A Construction Change Directive shall be used in the absence of total agreement on the terms of a Change Order.
- **7.3.3** If the Construction Change Directive provides for an adjustment to the Contract Sum, the adjustment shall be based on one of the following methods:
- .1 Mutual acceptance of a lump sum properly itemized and supported by sufficient substantiating data to permit evaluation;
- .2 Unit prices stated in the Contract Documents or subsequently agreed upon;
- .3 Cost to be determined in a manner agreed upon by the parties and a mutually acceptable fixed or percentage fee; or
- .4 As provided in Section 7.3.7.
- **7.3.4** If unit prices are stated in the Contract Documents or subsequently agreed upon, and if quantities originally contemplated are materially changed in a proposed Change Order or Construction Change Directive so that application of such unit prices to quantities of Work proposed will cause substantial inequity to the Owner or Contractor, the applicable unit prices shall be equitably adjusted.
- **7.3.5** Upon receipt of a Construction Change Directive, the Contractor shall promptly proceed with the change in the Work involved and advise the Architect of the Contractor's agreement or disagreement with the method, if any, provided in the Construction Change Directive for determining the proposed adjustment in the Contract Sum or Contract Time.
- **7.3.6** A Construction Change Directive signed by the Contractor indicates the agreement of the Contractor therewith, including adjustment in Contract Sum and Contract Time or the method for determining them. Such agreement shall be effective immediately and shall be recorded as a Change Order.
- **7.3.7** If the Contractor does not respond promptly or disagrees with the method for adjustment in the Contract Sum, the Architect shall determine the method and the adjustment on the basis of reasonable expenditures and savings of those performing the Work attributable to the change, including, in case of an increase in the Contract Sum, an amount for overhead and profit as set forth in the Agreement, or if no such amount is set forth in the Agreement, a reasonable amount. In such case, and also under Section 7.3.3.3, the Contractor shall keep and present, in such form as the Architect may prescribe, an itemized accounting together with appropriate supporting data. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, costs for the purposes of this Section 7.3.6 shall be limited to the following:
- .1 costs of labor, including social security, old age and unemployment insurance, fringe benefits required by agreement or custom, and workers' compensation insurance;
- .2 costs of materials, supplies and equipment, including cost of transportation, whether incorporated or consumed;
- .3 rental costs of machinery and equipment, exclusive of hand tools, whether rented from the

Contractor or others;

- .4 costs of premiums for all bonds and insurance, permit fees, and sales, use or similar taxes related to the Work; and
- .5 additional costs of supervision and field office personnel directly attributable to the change.
- **7.3.8** The amount of credit to be allowed by the Contractor to the Owner for a deletion or change which results in a net decrease in the Contract Sum shall be actual net cost as confirmed by the Architect. When both additions and credits covering related Work or substitutions are involved in a change, the allowance for overhead and profit shall be figured on the basis of net increase, if any, with respect to that change.
- **7.3.9** Pending final determination of the total cost of a Construction Change Directive to the Owner, the Contractor may request payment for work completed under the Construction Change Directive in Applications for Payment. The Architect will make an interim determination for purposes of monthly certification for payment for those costs, and certify for payment the amount that the Architect determines, in the Architect's professional judgment, to be reasonably justified. The Architect's interim determination of cost shall adjust the Contract Sum on the same basis as a Change Order, subject to the right of either party to disagree and assert a Claim in accordance with Article 15.
- **7.3.10** When the Owner and Contractor agree with the determination made by the Architect concerning the adjustments in the Contract Sum and Contract Time, or otherwise reach agreement upon the adjustments, such agreement shall be effective immediately and the Architect will prepare a Change Order. Change Orders may be issued for all or any part of a Construction Change Directive.

ConsensusDOCSTM-200 (2007)

8.2 INTERIM DIRECTED CHANGE

- **8.2.1** The Owner may issue a written Interim Directed Change directing a change in the Work prior to reaching agreement with the Contractor on the adjustment, if any, in the Contract Price and/or the Contract Time.
- **8.2.2** The Owner and the Contractor shall negotiate expeditiously and in good faith for appropriate adjustments, as applicable, to the Contract Price and/or the Contract Time arising out of an Interim Directed Change. As the Changed Work is performed, the Contractor shall submit its costs for such work with its application for payment beginning with the next application for payment within thirty (30) Days of the issuance of the Interim Directed Change. If there is a dispute as to the cost to the Owner, the Owner shall pay the Contractor fifty percent (50%) of its estimated cost to perform the work. In such event, the Parties reserve their rights as to the disputed amount, subject to the requirements of Article 12.
- **8.2.3** When Owner and Contractor agree upon the adjustment in the Contract Price and/or the Contract Time, for a change in the Work directed by an Interim Directed Change, such agreement shall be the subject of a Change Order. The Change Order shall include all outstanding Interim Directed Changes on which the Owner and Contractor have reached agreement on Contract Price or Contract Time issued since the last Change Order.

8.3 DETERMINATION OF COST

- **8.3.1** An increase or decrease in the Contract Price and/or the Contract Time resulting from a change in the Work shall be determined by one or more of the following methods:
- .1 unit prices set forth in the Agreement or as subsequently agreed;
- .2 a mutually accepted, itemized sum;
- .3 costs calculated on a basis agreed upon by the Owner and Contractor plus ____% Overhead and ____% profit; or
- .4 If an increase or decrease cannot be agreed to as set forth in Clauses .1 through .3 above.

- **8.3.2** If unit prices are set forth in the Contract Documents or are subsequently agreed to by the Parties, but the character or quantity of such unit items as originally contemplated is so different in a proposed Change Order that the original unit prices will cause substantial inequity to the Owner or the Contractor, such unit prices shall be equitably adjusted.
- **8.3.3** If the Owner and the Contractor disagree as to whether work required by the Owner is within the scope of the Work, the Contractor shall furnish the Owner with an estimate of the costs to perform the disputed work in accordance with the Owner's interpretations. If the Owner issues a written order for the Contractor to proceed, the Contractor shall perform the disputed work and the Owner shall pay the Contractor fifty percent (50%) of its estimated cost to perform the work. In such event, both Parties reserve their rights as to whether the work was within the scope of the Work, subject to the requirements of Article 12. The Owner's payment does not prejudice its right to be reimbursed should it be determined that the disputed work was within the scope of Work. The Contractor's receipt of payment for the disputed work does not prejudice its right to receive full payment for the disputed work.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

Not addressed in General Conditions. See Change Orders, Section 12.01

5. DELAYS/TIME EXTENSIONS

AIA-A201 (2007)

8.3 DELAYS AND EXTENSIONS OF TIME

- **8.3.1** If the Contractor is delayed at any time in the commencement or progress of the Work by an act or neglect of the Owner or Architect, or of an employee of either, or of a separate contractor employed by the Owner, or by changes ordered in the Work; or by labor disputes, fire, unusual delay in deliveries, unavoidable casualties or other causes beyond the Contractor's control; or by delay authorized by the Owner pending mediation and arbitration; or by other causes which the Architect determines may justify delay, then the Contract Time shall be extended by Change Order for such reasonable time as the Architect may determine.
- **8.3.2** Claims relating to time shall be made in accordance with applicable provisions of Article 15.
- **8.3.3** This Section 8.3 does not preclude recovery of damages for delay by either party under other provisions of the Contract Documents.

4.3.7 CLAIMS FOR ADDITIONAL TIME

- **4.3.7.1** If the Contractor wishes to make Claim for an increase in the Contract Time, written notice as provided herein shall be given. The Contractor's Claim shall include an estimate of cost and of probable effect of delay on progress of the Work. In the case of a continuing delay only one Claim is necessary.
- **4.3.7.2** If adverse weather conditions are the basis for a Claim for additional time, such Claim shall be documented by data substantiating that weather conditions were abnormal for the period of time, could not have been reasonably anticipated and had an adverse effect on the scheduled construction.

ConsensusDOCSTM-A200 (2007)

6.3 DELAYS AND EXTENSIONS OF TIME

- **6.3.1** If the Contractor is delayed at any time in the commencement or progress of the Work by any cause beyond the control of the Contractor, the Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable extension of the Contract Time. Examples of causes beyond the control of the Contractor include, but are not limited to, the following: acts or omissions of the Owner, the Architect/Engineer or Others; changes in the Work or the sequencing of the Work ordered by the Owner, or arising from decisions of the Owner that impact the time of performance of the Work; transportation delays not reasonably foreseeable; labor disputes not involving the Contractor; general labor disputes impacting the Project but not specifically related to the Worksite; fire; terrorism, epidemics, adverse governmental actions, unavoidable accidents or circumstances; adverse weather conditions not reasonably anticipated; encountering Hazardous Materials; concealed or unknown conditions; delay authorized by the Owner pending dispute resolution and suspension by the Owner under Paragraph 11.1. The Contractor shall submit any requests for equitable extensions of Contract Time in accordance with the provisions of Article 8.
- **6.3.2** In addition, if the Contractor incurs additional costs as a result of a delay that is caused by acts or omissions of the Owner, the Architect/Engineer or Others, changes in the Work or the sequencing of the Work ordered by the Owner, or arising from decisions of the Owner that impact the time of performance of the Work, encountering Hazardous Materials, or concealed or unknown conditions, delay authorized by the Owner pending dispute resolution or suspension by the Owner under Paragraph 11.1, the Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price subject to Paragraph 6.6
- **6.3.3 NOTICE OF DELAYS** In the event delays to the Work are encountered for any reason, the Contractor shall provide prompt written notice to the Owner of the cause of such delays after

Contractor first recognizes the delay. The Owner and Contractor agree to undertake reasonable steps to mitigate the effect of such delays.

6.4 NOTICE OF DELAY CLAIMS If the Contractor requests an equitable extension of Contract Time and/or an equitable adjustment in Contract Price as a result of a delay described in Subparagraphs 6.3.1 and 6.3.2, the Contractor shall give the Owner written notice of the claim in accordance with Paragraph 8.4. If the Contractor causes delay in the completion of the Work, the Owner shall be entitled to recover its additional costs subject to Paragraph 6.6. The Owner shall process any such claim against the Contractor in accordance with Article 8.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

12.03 DELAYS

- **A.** Where Contractor is prevented from completing any part of the Work within the Contract Times due to delay beyond the control of Contractor, the Contract Times will be extended in an amount equal to the time lost due to such delay if a Claim is made therefor as provided in Paragraph 12.02.A. Delays beyond the control of Contractor shall include, but not be limited to, acts or neglect by Owner, acts or neglect of utility owners or other contractors performing other work as contemplated by Article 7, fires, floods, epidemics, abnormal weather conditions, or acts of God.
- **B.** If Owner, Engineer, or other contractors or utility owners performing other work for Owner as contemplated by Article 7, or anyone for whom Owner is responsible, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the performance or progress of the Work, then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both. Contractor's entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor's ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times.
- C. If Contractor is delayed in the performance or progress of the Work by fire, flood, epidemic, abnormal weather conditions, acts of God, acts or failures to act of utility owners not under the control of Owner, or other causes not the fault of and beyond control of Owner and Contractor, then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in Contract Times, if such adjustment is essential to Contractor's ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times. Such an adjustment shall be Contractor's sole and exclusive remedy for the delays described in this Paragraph 12.03.C.
- **D.** Owner, Engineer and their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants or subcontractors shall not be liable to Contractor for any claims, costs, losses, or damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of Engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) sustained by Contractor on or in connection with any other project or anticipated project.
- **E.** Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for delays within the control of Contractor. Delays attributable to and within the control of a Subcontractor or Supplier shall be deemed to be delays within the control of Contractor.

6. APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT—PROGRESS PAYMENTS

AIA-A201 (2007)

9.3 APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT

- **9.3.1** At least ten days before the date established for each progress payment, the Contractor shall submit to the Architect an itemized Application for Payment prepared in accordance with the schedule of values, if required under Section 9.2, for completed portions of the Work. Such application shall be notarized, if required, and supported by such data substantiating the Contractor's right to payment as the Owner or Architect may require, such as copies of requisitions from Subcontractors and material suppliers, and shall reflect retainage if provided for in the Contract Documents.
- **9.3.1.1** As provided in Section 7.3.9, such applications may include requests for payment on account of changes in the Work that has been properly authorized by Construction Change Directives, or by interim determination of the Architect, but not yet included in the Change Orders.
- **9.3.1.2** Applications for Payment shall not include requests for payment for portions of the Work for which the Contractor does not intend to pay a Subcontractor or material supplier, unless such Work has been performed by other whom the Contractor intends to pay.

9.4 CERTIFICATES FOR PAYMENT

9.4.1 The Architect will, within seven days after receipt of the Contractor's Application for Payment, either issue to the Owner a Certificate for Payment, with a copy to the Contractor, for such amount as the Architect determines is properly due, or notify the Contractor and Owner in writing of the Architect's reasons for withholding certification in whole or in part as provided in Section 9.5.1.

ConsensusDOCSTM-A200 (2007)

9.2.1 APPLICATIONS The Contractor shall submit to the Owner, and the Architect/Engineer, a monthly application for payment no later than the _____ Day of the calendar month for the preceding thirty (30) Days. Contractor's applications for payment shall be itemized and supported by the Contractor's schedule of values and any other substantiating data as required by this Agreement. Payment applications shall include payment requests on account of properly authorized Change Orders or Interim Directed Change. The Owner shall pay the amount otherwise due on any payment application, as certified by the Architect/Engineer, no later than twenty (20) Days after the Contractor has submitted a complete and accurate payment application, or such shorter time period as required by applicable state statute. The Owner may deduct from any progress payment amounts as may be retained pursuant to Subparagraph 9.2.4.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

14.02 PROGRESS PAYMENTS

A. Applications for Payments.

- 1. At least 20 days before the date established in the Agreement for each progress payment (but not more often than once a month), Contractor shall submit to Engineer for review an Application for Payment filled out and signed by Contractor covering the Work completed as of the date of the Application and accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the Contract Documents.
- 2. Beginning with the second Application for Payment, each Application shall include an affidavit of Contractor stating that all previous progress payments received on account of the Work have been applied on account to discharge Contractor's legitimate obligations associated with prior Applications for Payment.

7. APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT—STORED MATERIALS

AIA-A201 (2007)

9.3.2 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, payments shall be made on account of materials and equipment delivered and suitably stored at the site for subsequent incorporation in the Work. If approved in advance by the Owner, payment may similarly be made for materials and equipment suitably stored off the site at a location agreed upon in writing. Payment for materials and equipment stored on or off the site shall be conditioned upon compliance by the Contractor with procedures satisfactory to the Owner to establish the Owner's title to such materials and equipment or otherwise protect the Owner's interest, and shall include the costs of applicable insurance, storage and transportation to the site for such materials and equipment stored off the site.

ConsensusDOCSTM-A200 (2007)

9.2.2 STORED MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, applications for payment may include materials and equipment not yet incorporated into the Work but delivered to and suitably stored on-site or off-site including applicable insurance, storage and transportation costs incurred transporting the materials to an offsite storage facility. Approval of payment applications for stored materials and equipment stored off-site shall be conditioned on submission by the Contractor of bills of sale and proof of required insurance, or such other procedures satisfactory to the Owner to establish the proper valuation of the stored materials and equipment, the Owner's title to such materials and equipment, and to otherwise protect the Owner's interests therein, including transportation to the site.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

14.02 PROGRESS PAYMENTS

A. Applications for Payments

1. If payment is requested on the basis of materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work but delivered and suitably stored at the Site or at another location agreed to in writing, the Application for Payment shall also be accompanied by a bill of sale, invoice, or other documentation warranting that Owner has received the materials and equipment free and clear of all Liens and evidence that the materials and equipment are covered by appropriate property insurance or other arrangements to protect Owner's interest therein, all of which must be satisfactory to Owner.

8. CERTIFICATES OF PAYMENT—DESIGNER REPRESENTATIONS AS TO PROGRESS PAYMENTS

AIA-A201 (2007)

9.4 CERTIFICATES FOR PAYMENT

9.4.2 The issuance of a Certificate for Payment will constitute a representation by the Architect to the Owner, based on the Architect's evaluation of the Work and the data comprising the Application for Payment, that the Work has progressed to the point indicated and that, to the best of the Architect's knowledge, information and belief, the quality of the Work is in accordance with the Contract Documents. The foregoing representations are subject to an evaluation of the Work for conformance with the Contract Documents upon Substantial Completion, to results of subsequent tests and inspections, to correction of minor deviations from the Contract Documents prior to completion and to specific qualifications expressed by the Architect. The issuance of a Certificate for Payment will further constitute a representation that the Contractor is entitled to payment in the amount certified. However, the issuance of a Certificate for Payment will not be a representation that the Architect has (1) made exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections to check the quality or quantity of the Work, (2) reviewed construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, (3) reviewed copies of requisitions received from Subcontractors and material suppliers and other data requested by the Owner to substantiate the Contractor's right to payment, or (4) made examination to ascertain how or for what purpose the Contractor has used money previously paid on account of the Contract Sum.

ConsensusDOCSTM-A200 (2007)

Not addressed in General Conditions.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

14.02 PROGRESS PAYMENTS

- A. Applications for Payments.
- **B.** Review of Applications.
- 1. Engineer will, within 10 days after receipt of each Application for Payment, either indicate in writing a recommendation of payment and present the Application to Owner or return the Application to Contractor indicating in writing Engineer's reasons for refusing to recommend payment. In the latter case, Contractor may make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application.
- 2. Engineer's recommendation of any payment requested in an Application for Payment will constitute a representation by Engineer to Owner, based on Engineer's observations on the Site of the executed Work as an experienced and qualified design professional and on Engineer's review of the Application for Payment and the accompanying data and schedules, that to the best of Engineer's knowledge, information and belief: a. the Work has progressed to the point indicated; b. the quality of the Work is generally in accordance with the Contract Documents (subject to an evaluation of the Work as a functioning whole prior to or upon Substantial Completion, to the results of any subsequent tests called for in the Contract Documents, to a final determination of quantities and classifications for Unit Price Work under Paragraph 9.07, and to any other qualifications stated in the recommendation); and c. the conditions precedent to Contractor's being entitled to such payment appear to have been fulfilled in so far as it is Engineer's responsibility to observe the Work.
- 3. By recommending any such payment Engineer will not thereby be deemed to have represented that: a. inspections made to check the quality or the quantity of the Work as it has been performed have been exhaustive, extended to every aspect of the Work in progress, or involved detailed

inspections of the Work beyond the responsibilities specifically assigned to Engineer in the Contract Documents; or b. that there may not be other matters or issues between the parties that might entitle Contractor to be paid additionally by Owner or entitle Owner to withhold payment to Contractor.

9. APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT—ADJUSTMENTS

AIA-A201 (2007)

9.5 DECISIONS TO WITHHOLD CERTIFICATION

- **9.5.1** The Architect may withhold a Certificate for Payment in whole or in part, to the extent reasonably necessary to protect the Owner, if in the Architect's opinion the representations to the Owner required by Section 9.4.2 cannot be made. If the Architect is unable to certify payment in the amount of the Application, the Architect will notify the Contractor and Owner as provided in Section 9.4.1. If the Contractor and Architect cannot agree on a revised amount, the Architect will promptly issue a Certificate for Payment for the amount for which the Architect is able to make such representations to the Owner. The Architect may also withhold a Certificate for Payment or, because of subsequently discovered evidence, may nullify the whole or a part of a Certificate for Payment previously issued, to such extent as may be necessary in the Architect's opinion to protect the Owner from loss for which the Contractor is responsible, including loss resulting from acts and omissions described in Section 3.3.2, because of:
- .1 defective Work not remedied:
- .2 third party claims filed or reasonable evidence indicating probable filing of such claims unless security acceptable to the Owner is provided by the Contractor;
- .3 failure of the Contractor to make payments properly to Subcontractors or for labor, materials or equipment;
- .4 reasonable evidence that the Work cannot be completed for the unpaid balance of the Contract Sum;
- .5 damage to the Owner or another contractor;
- .6 reasonable evidence that the Work will not be completed within the Contract Time, and that the unpaid balance would not be adequate to cover actual or liquidated damages for the anticipated delay; or
- .7 repeated failure to carry out the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.
- **9.5.2** When the above reasons for withholding certification are removed, certification will be made for amounts previously withheld.

ConsensusDOCSTM-A200 (2007)

- **9.3 ADJUSTMENT OF CONTRACTOR'S PAYMENT APPLICATION** The Owner may adjust or reject a payment application or nullify a previously approved payment application, in whole or in part, as may reasonably be necessary to protect the Owner from loss or damage based upon the following, to the extent that the Contractor is responsible therefor under this Agreement:
- .1 The Contractor's repeated failure to perform the Work as required by the Contract Documents;
- .2 loss or damage for which the Owner may be liable arising out of or relating to this Agreement and caused by the Contractor to the Owner or to Others to whom the Owner may be liable;
- .3 the Contractor's failure to properly pay Subcontractors and Material Suppliers following receipt of such payment from the Owner;
- .4 rejected, nonconforming or defective Work not corrected in a timely fashion;
- .5 reasonable evidence of delay in performance of the Work such that the Work will not be completed within the Contract Time; and
- **.6** reasonable evidence demonstrating that the unpaid balance of the Contract Price is insufficient to fund the cost to complete the Work.
- 7. Third-party claims involving the Contractor or reasonable evidence demonstrating that third party claims are likely to be filed unless and until the Contractor furnishes the Owner with adequate

security in the form of a surety bond, letter of credit or other collateral or commitment which are sufficient to discharge such claims if established. No later than seven (7) Days after receipt of an application for payment, the Owner shall give written notice to the Contractor, at the time of disapproving or nullifying all or part of an application for payment, stating its specific reasons for such disapproval or nullification, and the remedial actions to be taken by the Contractor in order to receive payment. When the above reasons for disapproving or nullifying an application for payment are removed, payment will be promptly made for the amounts previously withheld.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

14.02 PROGRESS PAYMENTS

D. Reduction in Payment

- 1. Owner may refuse to make payment of the full amount recommended by Engineer because:
- **a.** claims have been made against Owner on account of Contractor's performance or furnishing of the Work;
- **b.** Liens have been filed in connection with the Work, except where Contractor has delivered a specific bond satisfactory to Owner to secure the satisfaction and discharge of such Liens;
- c. there are other items entitling Owner to a set off against the amount recommended; or
- **d.** Owner has actual knowledge of the occurrence of any of the events enumerated in Paragraphs 14.02.B.5.a through 14.02.B.5.c or Paragraph 15.02.A.
- 2. If Owner refuses to make payment of the full amount recommended by Engineer, Owner will give Contractor immediate written notice (with a copy to Engineer) stating the reasons for such action and promptly pay Contractor any amount remaining after deduction of the amount so withheld. Owner shall promptly pay Contractor the amount so withheld, or any adjustment thereto agreed to by Owner and Contractor, when Contractor corrects to Owner's satisfaction the reasons for such action.
- **3.** If it is subsequently determined that Owner's refusal of payment was not justified, the amount wrongfully withheld shall be treated as an amount due as determined by Paragraph 14.02.C.1 and subject to interest as provided in the Agreement.

10. DIFFERING SITE CONDITIONS

AIA-A201 (2007)

- **3.2.1** Execution of the Contract by the Contractor is a representation that the Contractor has visited the site, become generally familiar with local conditions under which the Work is to be performed and correlated personal observations with requirements of the Contract Documents.
- 3.7.4 Claims for Concealed or Unknown Conditions. If the Contractor encounters conditions at the site that are (1) subsurface or otherwise concealed physical conditions that differ materially from those indicated in the Contract Documents or (2) unknown physical conditions of an unusual nature, which differ materially from those ordinarily found to exist and generally recognized as inherent in construction activities of the character provided for in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall promptly provide notice to the Owner and Architect before conditions are disturbed and in no event later than 21 days after first observance of the conditions. The Architect will promptly investigate such conditions and, if the Architect determines that they differ materially and cause an increase or decrease in the Contractor's cost of, or time required for, performance of any part of the Work, will recommend an equitable adjustment in the Contract Sum or Contract Time, or both. If the Architect determines that the conditions at the site are not materially different from those indicated in the Contract Documents and that no change in the terms of the Contract is justified, the Architect shall promptly notify the Owner and Contractor in writing, stating the reasons. If either party disputes the Architect's determination or recommendation, that party may proceed as provided in Article 15.

ConsensusDOCSTM–200 (2007)

3.16 WORKSITE CONDITIONS

- **3.16.1 WORKSITE VISIT** The Contractor acknowledges that it has visited, or has had the opportunity to visit, the Worksite to visually inspect the general and local conditions which could affect the Work.
- 3.16.2 CONCEALED OR UNKNOWN SITE CONDITIONS If the conditions at the Worksite are (a) subsurface or other physical conditions which are materially different from those indicated in the Contract Documents, or (b) unusual or unknown physical conditions which are materially different from conditions ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as inherent in Work provided for in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall stop Work and give immediate written notice of the condition to the Owner and the Architect/Engineer. The Contractor shall not be required to perform any work relating to the unknown condition without the written mutual agreement of the Parties. Any change in the Contract Price or the Contract Time as a result of the unknown condition shall be determined as provided in Article 8. The Contractor shall provide the Owner with written notice of any claim as a result of unknown conditions within the time period set forth in Paragraph 8.4

EDCJC-C700 (2007)

4.02 SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS

- **A. Reports and Drawings** The Supplementary Conditions identify:
- 1. those reports known to the Owner of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or contiguous to the Site; and
- **2.** those drawings known to the Owner of physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities).
- **B.** Limited Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Authorized: Contractor may rely upon the general accuracy of the "technical data" contained in such reports and drawings, but such reports

and drawings are not Contract Documents. Such "technical data" is identified in the Supplementary Conditions. Except for such reliance on such "technical data," Contractor may not rely upon or make any claim against Owner or Engineer, or any of their Related Entities with respect to:

- 1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor's purposes, including, but not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor, and safety precautions and programs incident thereto; or
- 2. other data, interpretations, opinions, and information contained in such reports or shown or indicated in such drawings; or
- **3.** any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any "technical data" or any such other data, interpretations, opinions, or information.

4.03 DIFFERING SUBSURFACE OR PHYSICAL CONDITIONS

- **A. Notice:** If Contractor believes that any subsurface or physical condition at or contiguous to the Site that is uncovered or revealed either:
- 1. is of such a nature as to establish that any "technical data" on which Contractor is entitled to rely as provided in Paragraph 4.02 is materially inaccurate; or
- 2. is of such a nature as to require a change in the Contract Documents; or
- 3. differs materially from that shown or indicated in the Contract Documents; or
- **4.** is of an unusual nature, and differs materially from conditions originally encountered and generally recognized as inherent in work of the character provided for in the Contract Documents; then Contractor shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing the subsurface or physical conditions or performing any Work in connection therewith (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 6.16.A), notify Owner and Engineer in writing about such condition. Contractor shall not further disturb such condition or perform any Work in connection therewith (except as aforesaid) until receipt of written order to do so.
- **B.** Engineer's Review: After receipt of written notice as required by Paragraph 4.03.A, Engineer will promptly review the pertinent condition, determine the necessity of Owner's obtaining additional exploration or tests with respect thereto, and advise Owner in writing (with a copy to Contractor) of Engineer's findings and conclusions.

C. Possible Price and Times Adjustments

- 1. The Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both, will be equitably adjusted to the extent that the existence of such differing subsurface or physical condition causes an increase or decrease in Contractor's cost of, or time required for, performance of the Work; subject, however, to the following:
- a. such condition must meet any one or more of the categories described in Paragraph 4.03.A; and
- **b.** with respect to Work that is paid for on a Unit Price Basis, any adjustment in Contract Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraphs 9.07 and 11.03.
- 2. Contractor shall not be entitled to any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times if:
- **a.** Contractor knew of the existence of such conditions at the time Contractor made a final commitment to Owner with respect to Contract Price and Contract Times by the submission of a Bid or becoming bound under a negotiated contract; or
- **b.** the existence of such condition could reasonably have been discovered or revealed as a result of any examination, investigation, exploration, test, or study of the Site and contiguous areas required by the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents to be conducted by or for Contractor prior to Contractor's making such final commitment; or
- c. Contractor failed to give the written notice as required by Paragraph 4.03.A.
- 3. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any,

of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05. However, neither Owner or Engineer or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors shall not be liable to Contractor for any claims, costs, losses, or damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) sustained by Contractor on or in connection with any other project or anticipated project.

11. SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION

AIA-A201 (2007)

9.8 SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION

9.8.1 Substantial Completion is the stage in the progress of the Work when the Work or designated portion thereof is sufficiently complete in accordance with the Contract Documents so that the Owner can occupy or utilize the Work for its intended use.

ConsensusDOCSTM-200 (2007)

2.4 DEFINITIONS

2.4.17 Substantial Completion of the Work, or of a designated portion, occurs on the date when the Work is sufficiently complete in accordance with the Contract Documents so that the Owner may occupy or utilize the Project, or a designated portion, for the use for which it is intended, without unscheduled disruption. The issuance of a certificate of occupancy is not a prerequisite for Substantial Completion if the certificate of occupancy cannot be obtained due to factors beyond the Contractor's control. This date shall be confirmed by a Certificate of Substantial Completion signed by the Owner and Contractor.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

1.01 DEFINED TERMS

A.

44. *Substantial Completion* The time at which the Work (or a specified part thereof) has progressed to the point where, in the opinion of Engineer, the Work (or a specified part thereof) is sufficiently complete, in accordance with the Contract Documents, so that the Work (or a specified part thereof) can be utilized for the purposes for which it is intended. The terms "substantially complete" and "substantially completed" as applied to all or part of the Work refer to Substantial Completion thereof.

12. INDEMNIFICATION

AIA-A201 (2007)

3.18 INDEMNIFICATION

3.18.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law the Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the Owner, Architect, Architect's consultants, and agents and employees of any of them from and against claims, damages, losses and expenses, including but not limited to attorneys' fees, arising out of or resulting from performance of the Work, provided that such claim, damage, loss or expense is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself), but only to the extent caused by the negligent acts or omissions of the Contractor, a Subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly employed by them or anyone for whose acts they may be liable, regardless of whether or not such claim, damage, loss or expense is caused in part by a party indemnified hereunder. Such obligation shall not be construed to negate, abridge, or reduce other rights or obligations of indemnity which would otherwise exist as to a party or person described in this Section 3.18.

ConsensusDOCSTM–200 (2007)

10.1 INDEMNITY

10.1.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the Owner, the Owner's officers, directors, members, consultants, agents and employees, the Architect/Engineer and Others (the Indemnitees) from all claims for bodily injury and property damage, other than to the Work itself and other property insured under Subparagraph 10.3.1, including reasonable attorneys' fees, costs and expenses, that may arise from the performance of the Work, but only to the extent caused by the negligent acts or omissions of the Contractor, Subcontractors or anyone employed directly or indirectly by any of them or by anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable. The Contractor shall be entitled to reimbursement of any defense costs paid above Contractor's percentage of liability for the underlying claim to the extent provided for under Subparagraph 10.1.2.

10.1.2 To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless the Contractor, its officers, directors, members, consultants, agents, and employees, Subcontractors or anyone employed directly or indirectly by any of them or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable from all claims for bodily injury and property damage, other than property insured under Subparagraph 10.3.1, including reasonable attorneys' fees, costs and expenses, that may arise from the performance of work by Owner, Architect or Others, but only to the extent caused by the negligent acts or omissions of the Owner, Architect/Engineer or Others. The Owner shall be entitled to reimbursement of any defense costs paid above Owner's percentage of liability for the underlying claim to the extent provided for under Subparagraph 10.1.1.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

6.20 INDEMNIFICATION

A. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the performance of the Work, provided that any such claim, cost, loss, or damage is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than

the Work itself), including the loss of use resulting therefrom but only to the extent caused by any negligent act or omission of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable.

- **B.** In any and all claims against Owner or Engineer or any of their respective consultants, agents, officers, directors, partners, or employees by any employee (or the survivor or personal representative of such employee) of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, the indemnification obligation under Paragraph 6.20.A shall not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for Contractor or any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity under workers' compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts.
- C. The indemnification obligations of Contractor under Paragraph 6.20.A shall not extend to the liability of Engineer and Engineer's officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors arising out of:
- 1. the preparation or approval of, or the failure to prepare or approve, maps, Drawings, opinions, reports, surveys, Change Orders, designs, or Specifications; or
- **2.** giving directions or instructions, or failing to give them, if that is the primary cause of the injury or damage.

13. CLAIMS NOTICE REQUIREMENTS

AIA-A201 (2007)

15.1.2 Notice of Claims. Claims by either the Owner or Contractor must be initiated by written notice to the other party and to the Initial Decision Maker with a copy sent to the Architect, if the Architect is not serving as the Initial Decision Maker. Claims by either party must be initiated within 21 days after occurrence of the event giving rise to such Claim or within 21 days after the claimant first recognizes the condition giving rise to the Claim, whichever is later.

ConsensusDOCSTM-200 (2007)

- **6.3.3 NOTICE OF DELAYS** In the event delays to the Work are encountered for any reason, the Contractor shall provide prompt written notice to the Owner of the cause of such delays after Contractor first recognizes the delay.
- 6.4 NOTICE OF DELAY CLAIMS If the Contractor requests an equitable extension of Contract Time or an equitable adjustment in Contract Price as a result of a delay described in Subparagraphs 6.3.1 and 6.3.2, the Contractor shall give the Owner written notice of the claim in accordance with Paragraph 8.4. If the Contractor causes delay in the completion of the Work, the Owner shall be entitled to recover its additional costs subject to Paragraph 6.6. The Owner shall process any such claim against the Contractor in accordance with Article 8.
- 8.4 CLAIMS FOR ADDITIONAL COST OR TIME Except as provided in Subparagraph 6.3.2 and Paragraph 6.4 for any claim for an increase in the Contract Price or the Contract Time, the Contractor shall give the Owner written notice of the claim within fourteen (14) Days after the Contractor first recognizes the condition giving rise to the claim, whichever is later. Except in an emergency, notice shall be given before proceeding with the Work. Thereafter, the Contractor shall submit written documentation of its claim, including appropriate supporting documentation, within twenty-one (21) Days after giving notice, unless the Parties mutually agree upon a longer period of time. The Owner shall respond in writing denying or approving the Contractor's claim no later than fourteen (14) Days after receipt of the Contractor's claim. Any change in the Contract Price and/or the Contract Time resulting from such claim shall be authorized by Change Order.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

10.05 CLAIMS

B. Notice: Written notice stating the general nature of each Claim, shall be delivered by the claimant to Engineer and the other party to the Contract promptly (but in no event later than 30 days) after the start of the event giving rise thereto. The responsibility to substantiate a Claim shall rest with the party making the Claim. Notice of the amount or extent of the Claim, with supporting data shall be delivered to the Engineer and the other party to the Contract within 60 days after the start of such event (unless Engineer allows additional time for claimant to submit additional or more accurate data in support of such Claim).

14. DISPUTE RESOLUTION—EARLY METHODS—NO NEUTRAL

AIA-A201 (2007)

15.2 INITIAL DECISION

- 15.2.1 Claims, excluding those arising under Section 10.3, 10.4, 11.3.9 and 11.3.10, shall be referred to the Initial Decision Maker for initial decision. The Architect will serve as the Initial Decision Maker, unless otherwise indicated in the Agreement. Except for those claims excluded by this Section 15.2.1, an initial decision shall be required as a condition precedent to mediation of any Claim arising prior to the date final payment is due, unless 30 days have passed after the Claim has been referred to the Initial Decision Maker with no decision having been rendered. Unless the Initial Decision Maker and all affected parties agree, the Initial Decision Maker will not decide disputes between the Contractor and persons or entities other than the Owner.
- 15.2.2 The Initial Decision Maker will review Claims and within ten days of the receipt of a Claim take one or more of the following actions: (1) request additional supporting data from the claimant or a response with supporting data from the other party; (2) reject the Claim in whole or in part; (3) approve the Claim; (4) suggest a compromise; or (5) advise the parties that the Initial Decision Maker is unable to resolve the Claim if the Initial Decision Maker lacks sufficient information to evaluate the merits of the Claim or if the Initial Decision Maker concludes that, in the Initial Decision Maker's sole discretion, it would be inappropriate for the Initial Decision Maker to resolve the Claim.
- **15.2.3** In evaluating Claims, the Initial Decision Maker may, but shall not be obligated to, consult with or seek information from either party or from persons with special knowledge or expertise who may assist the Initial Decision Maker in rendering a decision. The Initial Decision Maker may request the Owner to authorize retention of such persons at the Owner's expense.
- **15.2.4** If the Initial Decision Maker requests a party to provide a response to a Claim or to furnish additional supporting data, such party shall respond, within ten days after receipt of such request, and shall either (1) provide a response on the requested supporting data, (2) advise the Initial Decision Maker when the response or supporting data will be furnished or (3) advise the Initial Decision Maker that no supporting data will be furnished. Upon receipt of the response or supporting data, if any, the Initial Decision Maker will either reject or approve the Claim in whole or in part.
- 15.2.5 The Initial Decision Maker will render an initial decision approving or rejecting the Claim, or indicating that the Initial Decision Maker is unable to resolve the Claim. This initial decision shall (1) be in writing; (2) state the reasons therefor; and (3) notify the parties and the Architect, if the Architect is not serving as the Initial Decision Maker, of any change in the Contract Sum or Contract Time or both. The initial decision shall be final and binding on the parties but subject to mediation and, if the parties fail to resolve their dispute through mediation, to binding dispute resolution.
- **15.2.6** Either party may file for mediation of an initial decision at any time, subject to the terms of Section 15.2.6.1.
- **15.2.6.1** Either party may, within 30 days from the date of an initial decision, demand in writing that the other party file for mediation within 60 days of the initial decision. If such demand is made and the party receiving the demand fails to file for mediation within the time required, then both parties waive their rights to mediate or pursue binding dispute resolution proceedings with respect to the initial decision.

ConsensusDOCSTM-200 (2007)

12.2 DIRECT DISCUSSIONS If the Parties cannot reach resolution on a matter relating to or arising out of the Agreement, the Parties shall endeavor to reach resolution through good faith direct discussions between the Parties' representatives, who shall possess the necessary authority to resolve

such matter and who shall record the date of first discussions. If the Parties' representatives are not able to resolve such matter within five (5) business Days of the date of first discussion, the Parties' representatives shall immediately inform senior executives of the Parties in writing that resolution was not effected. Upon receipt of such notice, senior executives of the Parties shall meet within five (5) business Days to endeavor to reach resolution. If the dispute remains unresolved after fifteen (15) Days from the date of first discussion, the Parties shall submit such matter to the dispute mitigation and dispute resolution procedures selected herein.

12.3 MITIGATION. If the Parties select one of the dispute mitigation procedures provided in this Paragraph 12.3, disputes remaining unresolved after direct discussions shall be directed to the selected mitigation procedure. The dispute mitigation procedure shall result in a nonbinding finding on the matter, which may be introduced as evidence at a subsequent binding adjudication of the matter, as designated in Paragraph 12.5. The Parties agree that the dispute mitigation procedure shall be

(Designate only one):
Project Neutral
Dispute Review Board

- **12.3.1 MITIGATION PROCEDURES.** The Project Neutral/Dispute Review Board shall be mutually selected and appointed by the Parties and shall execute a retainer agreement with the Parties establishing the scope of the Project Neutral/Dispute Review Board's responsibilities. The costs and expenses of the Project Neutral/Dispute Review Board shall be shared equally by the Parties. The Project Neutral/Dispute Review Board shall be available to either Party, upon request, throughout the course of the Project, and shall make regular visits to the Project so as to maintain an up-to-date understanding of the Project progress and issues and to enable the Project Neutral/Dispute Review Board to address matters in dispute between the Parties promptly and knowledgeably. The Project Neutral/Dispute Review Board shall issue nonbinding findings within five (5) business Days of referral of the matter to the Project Neutral, unless good cause is shown.
- **12.3.2** If the matter remains unresolved following the issuance of the nonbinding finding by the mitigation procedure or if the Project Neutral/Dispute Review Board fails to issue nonbinding findings within five (5) business Days of the referral, the Parties shall submit the matter to the binding dispute resolution procedure designated in Paragraph 12.5.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

10.05 CLAIMS

A. Engineer's Decision Required: All Claims, except those waived pursuant to Paragraph 14.09, shall be referred to the Engineer for decision. A decision by Engineer shall be required as a condition precedent to any exercise by Owner or Contractor of any rights or remedies either may otherwise have under the Contract Documents or by Laws and Regulations in respect of such Claims.

15. DISPUTE RESOLUTION—MEDIATION

AIA-A201 (2007)

15.3 MEDIATION

- **15.3.1** Claims, disputes or other matters in controversy arising out of or related to the Contract, except those waived as provided in Sections 9.10.4, 9.10.5, and 15.1.6 shall, after initial decision by the Architect or 30 days after submission of the Claim to the Architect, be subject to mediation as a condition precedent to binding dispute resolution.
- 15.3.2 The parties shall endeavor to resolve their Claims by mediation which, unless the parties mutually agree otherwise, shall be administered by the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its Construction Industry Mediation Rules of the American Arbitration Association effecting effect on the date of the Agreement. Request for mediation shall be made in writing, delivered to the other party to the Contract and filed with the person or entity administering the mediation. The request may be made concurrently with the filing of binding dispute resolution proceedings but, in such event, mediation shall proceed in advance of binding dispute resolution proceedings, which shall be stayed pending mediation for a period of 60 days from the date of filing, unless stayed for a longer period by agreement of the parties or court order. If an arbitration is stayed pursuant to this Section 15.3.2, the parties may nonetheless proceed to the selection of the arbitrator(s) and agree upon a schedule for later proceedings.
- **15.3.3** The parties shall share the mediator's fee and any filing fees equally. The mediation shall be held in the place where the Project is located, unless another location is mutually agreed upon. Agreements reached in mediation shall be enforceable as settlement agreements in any court having jurisdiction thereof.

ConsensusDOCSTM-200 (2007)

12.4 MEDIATION If direct discussions pursuant to Paragraph 12.2 do not result in resolution of the matter and no dispute mitigation procedure is selected under Paragraph 12.3, the Parties shall endeavor to resolve the matter by mediation through the current Construction Industry Mediation Rules of the American Arbitration Association, or the Parties may mutually agree to select another set of mediation rules. The administration of the mediation shall be as mutually agreed by the Parties. The mediation shall be convened within thirty (30) business Days of the matter first being discussed and shall conclude within forty-five (45) business Days of the matter first being discussed. Either Party may terminate the mediation at any time after the first session, but the decision to terminate shall be delivered in person by the terminating Party to the non-terminating Party and to the mediator. The costs of the mediation shall be shared equally by the Parties.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

16.01 METHODS AND PROCEDURES

- **A.** Either Owner or Contractor may request mediation of any Claim submitted to Engineer for a decision under Paragraph 10.05 before such decision becomes final and binding. The mediation will be governed by the Construction Industry Mediation Rules of the American Arbitration Association in effect as of the Effective Date of the Agreement. The request for mediation shall be submitted in writing to the American Arbitration Association and the other party to the Contract. Timely submission of the request shall stay the effect of Paragraph 10.05.E.
- **B.** Owner and Contractor shall participate in the mediation process in good faith. The process shall be concluded within 60 days of filing of the request. The date of termination of the mediation shall be determined by application of the mediation rules referenced above.

16. DISPUTE RESOLUTION—ARBITRATION AND OTHER BINDING METHODS

AIA-A201 (2007)

15.4 ARBITRATION

- **15.4.1** If the parties have selected arbitration as the method for binding dispute resolution in the Agreement, any Claim subject to, but not resolved by, mediation shall be subject to arbitration which, unless the parties mutually agree otherwise, shall be administered by the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its Construction Industry Arbitration Rules in effect on the date of this Agreement. A demand for arbitration shall be made in writing, delivered to the other party to the Contract, and filed with the person or entity administering the arbitration. The party filing a notice of demand for arbitration must assert the person or entity administering the arbitration. The party filing a notice of demand for arbitration must assert in the demand all Claims then known to that party on which arbitration is permitted to be demanded.
- **15.4.1.1** A demand for arbitration shall be made no earlier than concurrently with the filing of a request for mediation, but in no event shall it be made after the date when the institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on the Claim would be barred by the applicable statute of limitations. For statute of limitations purposes, receipt of a written demand for arbitration by the person or entity administering the arbitration shall constitute the institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on the Claim.
- **15.4.2 Judgment on Final Award.** The award rendered by the arbitrator or arbitrators shall be final, and judgment may be entered upon it in accordance with applicable law in any court having jurisdiction thereof.
- **15.4.3** The foregoing agreement to arbitrate and other agreements to arbitrate with an additional person or entity duly consented to by parties to the Agreement shall be specifically enforceable under applicable law in any court having jurisdiction thereof.

ConsensusDOCSTM-200 (2007)

12.5 BINDING DISPUTE RESOLUTION. If the matter is unresolved after submission of the matter to a mitigation procedure or to mediation, the Parties shall submit the matter to the binding dispute resolution procedure designated herein.

(Designate only one:)

Arbitration using the current Construction Industry Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association or the Parties may mutually agree to select another set of arbitration rules. The administration of the arbitration shall be as mutually agreed by the Parties.

Litigation in either the state or federal court having jurisdiction of the matter in the location of the Project.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

ARTICLE 16 DISPUTE RESOLUTION

16.01 METHODS AND PROCEDURES.

- C. If the Claim is not resolved by mediation, Engineer's action under Paragraph 10.05.C or a denial pursuant to Paragraphs 10.05.C.3 or 10.05.D shall become final and binding 30 days after termination of the mediation unless, within that time period, Owner or Contractor:
- 1. elects in writing to invoke any dispute resolution process provided for in the Supplementary Conditions, or
- 2. agrees with the other party to submit the Claim to another dispute resolution process, or
- **3.** gives written notice to the other party of their intent to submit the Claim to a court of competent jurisdiction.

17. DISPUTE RESOLUTION—CONSOLIDATION OR JOINDER OF PARTIES

AIA-A201 (2007)

- **15.4.4.1** Either party, at its sole discretion, may consolidate an arbitration conducted under this Agreement with any other arbitration to which it is a party provided that (1) the arbitration agreement governing the other arbitration permits consolidation, (2) the arbitrations to be consolidated substantially involve common questions of law or fact, and (3) the arbitrations employ materially similar procedural rules and methods for selecting arbitrator(s).
- **15.4.4.2** Either party, at its sole discretion, may include by joinder persons or entities substantially involved in a common question of law or fact whose presence is required if complete relief is to be accorded in arbitration, provided that the party sought to be joined consents in writing to such joinder. Consent to arbitration involving an additional person or entity shall not constitute consent to arbitration of any claim, dispute or other matter in question as described in the written consent.
- **15.4.4.3** The Owner and Contractor grant to any person or entity made a party to an arbitration conducted under this Section 15.4, whether by joinder or consolidation, the same rights of joinder and consolidation as the Owner and Contractor under this Agreement.

ConsensusDOCSTM–200 (2007)

12.6 MULTIPARTY PROCEEDING All parties necessary to resolve a matter shall be parties to the same dispute resolution procedure. Appropriate provisions shall be included in all other contracts relating to the Work to provide for the joinder or consolidation of such dispute resolution procedures.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

Not addressed in General Conditions.

18. DISPUTE RESOLUTION—CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES

AIA-A201 (2007)

- **15.1.6** Claims for Consequential Damages. The Contractor and Owner waive Claims against each other for consequential damages arising out of or relating to this Contract. This mutual waiver includes:
- .1 damages incurred by the Owner for rental expenses, for losses of use, income, profit, financing, business and reputation, and for loss of management or employee productivity or of the services of such persons; and
- .2 damages incurred by the Contractor for principal office expenses including the compensation of personnel stationed there, for losses of financing, business and reputation, and for loss of profit except anticipated profit arising directly from the Work.

This mutual waiver is applicable, without limitation, to all consequential damages due to either party's termination in accordance with Article 14. Nothing contained in this Section 15.1.6 shall be deemed to preclude an award of liquidated damages, when applicable, in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents.

ConsensusDOCSTM-200 (2007)

- 6.5 LIQUIDATED DAMAGES **6.5.1 SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION.** The Owner and the Contractor agree that this Agreement shall not (indicate one) provide for the imposition of liquidated damages based on the Date of Substantial Completion. **6.5.1.1** The Contractor understands that if the Date of Substantial Completion established by this Agreement, as may be amended by subsequent Change Order, is not attained, the Owner will suffer damages which are difficult to determine and accurately specify. The Contractor agrees that if the Date of Substantial Completion is not attained the Contractor shall pay the Owner) as liquidated damages and not as a penalty for each Days that Substantial Completion extends beyond the Date of Substantial Completion. The liquidated damages provided herein shall be in lieu of all liability for any and all extra costs, losses, expenses, claims, penalties and any other damages of whatsoever nature incurred by the Owner which are occasioned by any delay in achieving the Date of Substantial Completion. **6.5.2 FINAL COMPLETION.** The Owner and the Contractor agree that this Agreement shall/ shall not (indicate one) provide for the imposition of liquidated damages based on the Date of Final Completion. 6.5.2.1 The Contractor understands that if the Date of Final Completion established by this
- Agreement, as may be amended by subsequent Change Order is not attained, the Owner will suffer damages which are difficult to determine and accurately specify. The Contractor agrees that if the Date of Final Completion is not attained the Contractor shall pay the Owner ______ Dollars (\$______) as liquidated damages and not as a penalty for each Days that Final Completion extends beyond the Date of Final Completion. The liquidated damages provided herein shall be in lieu of all liability for any and all extra costs, losses, expenses, claims, penalties and any other damages of whatsoever nature incurred by the Owner which are occasioned by any delay in achieving the Date of Final Completion.
- **6.5.3 OTHER LIQUIDATED DAMAGES.** The Owner and the Contractor may agree upon the imposition of liquidated damages based on other project milestones or performance requirements. Such agreement shall be included as an exhibit to this Agreement.
- 6.6 LIMITED MUTUAL WAIVER OF CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES. Except for damages

mutually agreed upon by the Parties as liquidated damages in Paragraph 6.5 and excluding losses covered by insurance required by the Contract Documents, the Owner and the Contractor agree to waive all claims against each other for any consequential damages that may arise out of or relate to this Agreement, except for those specific items of damages excluded from this waiver as mutually agreed upon by the Parties and identified below. The Owner agrees to waive damages including but not limited to the Owner's loss of use of the Project, any rental expenses incurred, loss of income, profit or financing related to the Project, as well as the loss of business, loss of financing, principal office overhead and expenses, loss of profits not related to this Project, loss of business, loss of financing, principal office overhead and expenses, loss of profits not related to this Project, loss of bonding capacity, loss of reputation, or insolvency. The following items of damages are excluded from this mutual waiver:

6.6.1 The provisions of this Paragraph shall also apply to the termination of this Agreement and shall survive such termination. The Owner and the Contractor shall require similar waivers in contracts with Subcontractors and Others retained for the project.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

12.03 DELAYS

D. Owner, Engineer and their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors shall not be liable to Contractor for any claims, costs, losses, or damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of Engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) sustained by Contractor on or in connection with any other project or anticipated project.

19. DISPUTE RESOLUTION—AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES TO PREVAILING PARTY

AIA-A201 (2007)

Not addressed.

ConsensusDOCSTM–200 (2007)

12.5.1 The costs of any binding dispute resolution procedures shall be borne by the non-prevailing Party, as determined by the adjudicator of the dispute.

10.1 INDEMNITY

- **10.1.1** . . . The Contractor shall be entitled to reimbursement of any defense costs paid above Contractor's percentage of liability for the underlying claim to the extent provided for under Subparagraph 10.1.2.
- **10.1.2** . . . The Owner shall be entitled to reimbursement of any defense costs paid above Owner's percentage of liability for the underlying claim to the extent provided for under Subparagraph 10.1.1.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

Not addressed in General Conditions.

20. CONTRACTOR'S WARRANTY

AIA-A201 (2007)

3.5 WARRANTY

3.5 The Contractor warrants to the Owner and Architect that materials and equipment furnished under the Contract will be of good quality and new unless the Contract Documents require or permit otherwise. The Contractor further warrants that the Work will conform to the requirements of the Contract Documents and will be free from defects, except for those inherent in the quality of the Work the Contract Documents require or permit. Work, materials, or equipment not conforming to these requirements may be considered defective. The Contractor's warranty excludes remedy for damage or defect caused by abuse, alterations to the Work not executed by the Contractor, improper or insufficient maintenance, improper operation, or normal wear and tear and normal usage. If required by the Architect, the Contractor shall furnish satisfactory evidence as to the kind and quality of materials and equipment.

ConsensusDOCSTM-200 (2007)

- **3.8.1** The Contractor warrants that all materials and equipment shall be new unless otherwise specified, of good quality, in conformance with the Contract Documents, and free from defective workmanship and materials. At the Owner's request, the Contractor shall furnish satisfactory evidence of the quality and type of materials and equipment furnished. The Contractor further warrants that the Work shall be free from material defects not intrinsic in the design or materials required in the Contract Documents. The Contractor's warranty does not include remedies for defects or damages caused by normal wear and tear during normal usage, use for a purpose for which the Project was not intended, improper or insufficient maintenance, modifications performed by the Owner or Others, or abuse. The Contractor's warranty pursuant to this Paragraph 3.8 shall commence on the Date of Substantial Completion.
- **3.8.2** The Contractor shall obtain from its Subcontractors and Material Suppliers, any special or extended warranties required by the Contract Documents. All such warranties shall be listed in an attached Exhibit to this Agreement. Contractor's liability for such warranties shall be limited to the one-year correction period referred to in Paragraph 3.9. After that period, Contractor shall assign them to the Owner and provide reasonable assistance to the Owner in enforcing the obligations of Subcontractors or Material Suppliers.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

6.19 CONTRACTOR'S GENERAL WARRANTY AND GUARANTEE

- **A.** Contractor warrants and guarantees to Owner that all Work will be in accordance with the Contract Documents and will not be defective. Engineer and its officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors shall be entitled to rely on representation of Contractor's warranty and guarantee.
- **B.** Contractor's warranty and guarantee hereunder excludes defects or damage caused by:
- 1. abuse, modification, or improper maintenance or operation by persons other than Contractor, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or any other individual or entity for whom Contractor is responsible; or
- 2. normal wear and tear under normal usage.

21. ONE-YEAR CORRECTION PERIOD

AIA-A201 (2007)

12.2.2 AFTER SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION

- 12.2.2.1 In addition to the Contractor's obligations under Section 3.5, if, within one year after the date of Substantial Completion of the Work or designated portion thereof or after the date for commencement of warranties established under Section 9.9.1, or by terms of an applicable special warranty required by the Contract Documents, any of the Work is found to be not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall correct it promptly after receipt of written notice from the Owner to do so unless the Owner has previously given the Contractor a written acceptance of such condition. The Owner shall give such notice promptly after discovery of the condition. During the one-year period for correction of Work, if the Owner fails to notify the Contractor and give the Contractor an opportunity to make the correction, the Owner waives the rights to require correction by the Contractor and to make a claim for breach of warranty. If the Contractor fails to correct nonconforming Work within a reasonable time during that period after receipt of notice from the Owner or Architect, the Owner may correct it in accordance with Section 2.4.
- **12.2.2.2** The one-year period for correction of Work shall be extended with respect to portions of Work first performed after Substantial Completion by the period of time between Substantial Completion and the actual completion of the portion of the Work.
- **12.2.2.3** The one-year period for correction of Work shall not be extended by corrective Work performed by the Contractor pursuant to this Section 12.2.
- **12.2.3** The Contractor shall remove from the site portions of the Work that are not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents and are neither corrected by the Contractor nor accepted by the Owner.
- **12.2.4** The Contractor shall bear the cost of correcting destroyed or damaged construction, whether completed or partially completed, of the Owner or separate contractors caused by the Contractor's correction or removal of Work that is not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents.
- 12.2.5 Nothing contained in this Section 12.2 shall be construed to establish a period of limitation with respect to other obligations which the Contractor might have under the Contract Documents. Establishment of the one-year period for correction of Work as described in Section 12.2.2 relates only to the specific obligation of the Contractor to correct the Work, and has no relationship to the time within which the obligation to comply with the Contract Documents may be sought to be enforced, nor to the time within which proceedings may be commenced to establish the Contractor's liability with respect to the Contractor's obligations other than specifically to correct the Work.

ConsensusDOCSTM-200 (2007)

3.9 CORRECTION OF WORK WITHIN ONE YEAR

3.9.1 If, prior to Substantial Completion and within one year after the date of Substantial Completion of the Work, any Defective Work is found, the Owner shall promptly notify the Contractor in writing. Unless the Owner provides written acceptance of the condition, the Contractor shall promptly correct the Defective Work at its own cost and time and bear the expense of additional services required for correction of any Defective Work for which it is responsible. If within the one-year correction period the Owner discovers and does not promptly notify the Contractor or give the Contractor an opportunity to test and/or correct Defective Work as reasonably requested by the Contractor, the Owner waives the Contractor's obligation to correct that Defective Work well as the

Owner's right to claim a breach of the warranty with respect to that Defective Work.

- **3.9.2** With respect to any portion of Work first performed after Substantial Completion, the one-year correction period shall be extended by the period of time between Substantial Completion and the actual performance of the later Work. Correction periods shall not be extended by corrective work performed by the Contractor.
- **3.9.3** If the Contractor fails to correct Defective Work within a reasonable time after receipt of written notice from the Owner prior to final payment, the Owner may correct it in accordance with the Owner's right to carry out the Work in Paragraph 11.2. In such case, an appropriate Change Order shall be issued deducting the cost of correcting such deficiencies from payments then or thereafter due the Contractor. If payments then or thereafter due Contractor are not sufficient to cover such amounts, the Contractor shall pay the difference to the Owner.
- **3.9.4** If after the one-year correction period but before the applicable limitation period the Owner discovers any Defective Work, the Owner shall, unless the Defective Work requires emergency correction, promptly notify the Contractor. If the Contractor elects to correct the Work, it shall provide written notice of such intent within fourteen (14) Days of its receipt of notice from the Owner. The Contractor shall complete the correction of the Work within a mutually agreed time frame. If the Contractor does not elect to correct the Work, the Owner may have the Work corrected by itself or Others and charge the Contractor for the reasonable cost of the correction. Owner shall provide Contractor with an accounting of correction costs it incurs.
- **3.9.5** If the Contractor's correction or removal of Defective Work causes damage to or destroys other completed or partially completed Work or existing buildings, the Contractor shall be responsible for the cost of correcting the destroyed or damaged property.
- **3.9.6** The one-year period for correction of Defective Work does not constitute a limitation period with respect to the enforcement of the Contractor's other obligations under the Contract Documents.
- **3.9.7** Prior to final payment, at the Owner's option and with the Contractor's agreement, the Owner may elect to accept Defective Work rather than require its removal and correction. In such case, the Contract Price shall be equitably adjusted for any diminution in the value of the Project caused by such Defective Work.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

13.07 CORRECTION PERIOD

- **A.** If within one year after the date of Substantial Completion (or such longer period of time as may be prescribed by the terms of any applicable special guarantee required by the Contract Documents) or by any specific provision of the Contract Documents, any Work is found to be defective, or if the repair of any damages to the land or areas made available for Contractor's use by Owner or permitted by Laws and Regulations as contemplated in Paragraph 6.11.A is found to be defective, Contractor shall promptly, without cost to Owner and in accordance with Owner's written instructions:
- 1. repair such defective land or areas; or
- 2. correct such defective Work; or
- **3.** if the defective Work has been rejected by Owner, remove it from the Project and replace it with Work that is not defective, and
- **4.** satisfactorily correct or repair or remove and replace any damage to other Work, to the work of others or other land or areas resulting therefrom.
- **B.** If Contractor does not promptly comply with the terms of Owner's written instructions, or in an emergency where delay would cause serious risk of loss or damage, Owner may have the defective Work corrected or repaired or may have the rejected Work removed and replaced. All claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects,

attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such correction or repair or such removal and replacement (including but not limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work of others) will be paid by Contractor.

- **C.** In special circumstances where a particular item of equipment is placed in continuous service before Substantial Completion of all the Work, the correction period for that item may start to run from an earlier date if so provided in the Specifications.
- **D.** Where defective Work (and damage to other Work resulting therefrom) has been corrected or removed and replaced under this Paragraph 13.07, the correction period hereunder with respect to such Work will be extended for an additional period of one year after such correction or removal and replacement has been satisfactorily completed.
- **E.** Contractor's obligations under this Paragraph 13.07 are in addition to any other obligation or warranty. The provisions of this Paragraph 13.07 shall not be construed as a substitute for or a waiver of the provisions of any applicable statute of limitation or repose.

22. OWNER'S SUSPENSION OF PERFORMANCE

AIA-A201 (2007)

14.3 SUSPENSION BY OWNER FOR CONVENIENCE

- **14.3.1** The Owner may, without cause, order the Contractor in writing to suspend, delay or interrupt the Work in whole or in part for such period of time as the Owner may determine.
- **14.3.2** The Contract Sum and Contract Time shall be adjusted for increases in the cost and time caused by suspension, delay or interruption as described in Section 14.3.1. Adjustment of the Contract Sum shall include profit. No adjustment shall be made to the extent:
- .1 that performance is, was or would have been so suspended, delayed or interrupted by another cause for which the Contractor is responsible; or
- .2 that an equitable adjustment is made or denied under another provision of the Contract.

ConsensusDOCSTM-A200 (2007)

11.1 SUSPENSION BY OWNER FOR CONVENIENCE

- **11.1.1 OWNER SUSPENSION** Should the Owner order the Contractor in writing to suspend, delay, or interrupt the performance of the Work for such period of time as may be determined to be appropriate for the convenience of the Owner and not due to any act or omission of the Contractor or any person or entity for whose acts or omissions the Contractor may be liable, then the Contractor shall immediately suspend, delay or interrupt that portion of the Work as ordered by the Owner. The Contract Price and the Contract Time shall be equitably adjusted by Change Order for the cost and delay resulting from any such suspension.
- **11.1.2** Any action taken by the Owner that is permitted by any other provision of the Contract Documents and that results in a suspension of part or all of the Work does not constitute a suspension of Work under this Paragraph 11.1.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

15.01 OWNER MAY SUSPEND WORK

A. At any time and without cause, Owner may suspend the Work or any portion thereof for a period of not more than 90 consecutive days by notice in writing to Contractor and Engineer which will fix the date on which Work will be resumed. Contractor shall resume the Work on the date so fixed. Contractor shall be granted an adjustment in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly attributable to any such suspension if Contractor makes a Claim therefore as provided in Paragraph 10.05.

23. TERMINATION BY CONTRACTOR FOR CAUSE

AIA-A201 (2007)

14.1 TERMINATION BY THE CONTRACTOR

- **14.1.1** The Contractor may terminate the Contract if the Work is stopped for a period of 30 consecutive days through no act or fault of the Contractor or a Subcontractor, Sub-subcontractor or their agents or employees or any other persons or entities performing portions of the Work under direct or indirect contract with the Contractor, for any of the following reasons:
- .1 Issuance of an order of a court or other public authority having jurisdiction that requires all Work to be stopped;
- .2 An act of government, such as a declaration of national emergency that requires all Work to be stopped;
- .3 Because the Architect has not issued a Certificate for Payment and has not notified the Contractor of the reason for withholding certification as provided in Section 9.4.1, or because the Owner has not made payment on a Certificate for Payment within the time stated in the Contract Documents; or
- .4 The Owner has failed to furnish to the Contractor promptly, upon the Contractor's request, reasonable evidence as required by Section 2.2.1.
- **14.1.2** The Contractor may terminate the Contract if, through no act or fault of the Contractor or a Subcontractor, Sub-subcontractor or their agents or employees or any other persons or entities performing portions of the Work under direct or indirect contract with the Contractor, repeated suspensions, delays or interruptions of the entire Work by the Owner as described in Section 14.3 constitute in the aggregate more than 100 percent of the total number of days scheduled for completion, or 120 days in any 365-day period, whichever is less.
- **14.1.3** If one of the reasons described in Section 14.1.1 or 14.1.2 exists, the Contractor may, upon seven days' written notice to the Owner and Architect, terminate the Contract and recover from the Owner payment for Work executed, including reasonable overhead, profit and damages.
- **14.1.4** If the Work is stopped for a period of 60 consecutive days through no act or fault of the Contractor or a Subcontractor or their agents or employees or any other persons performing portions of the Work under contract with the Contractor because the Owner has persistently failed to fulfill the Owner's obligations under the Contract Documents with respect to matters important to the progress of the Work, the Contractor may, upon seven additional days' written notice to the Owner and the Architect, terminate the Contract and recover from the Owner as provided in Section 14.1.3.

ConsensusDOCSTM-200 (2007)

11.5 CONTRACTOR'S RIGHT TO TERMINATE

- **11.5.1** Upon seven (7) Days' written notice to the Owner, the Contractor may terminate this Agreement if the Work has been stopped for a thirty (30) Day period through no fault of the Contractor for any of the following reasons:
- .1 under court order or order of other governmental authorities having jurisdiction;
- .2 as a result of the declaration of a national emergency or other governmental act during which, through no act or fault of the Contractor, materials are not available; or
- .3 suspension by Owner for convenience pursuant to Paragraph 11.1.
- **11.5.2** In addition, upon seven (7) Days' written notice to the Owner, the Contractor may terminate the Agreement if the Owner:
- .1 fails to furnish reasonable evidence pursuant to Paragraph 4.2 that sufficient funds are available and committed for Project financing, or
- .2 assigns this Agreement over the Contractor's reasonable objection, or

- .3 fails to pay the Contractor in accordance with this Agreement and the Contractor has complied with the notice provisions of Paragraph 9.6, or
- .4 otherwise materially breaches this Agreement.
- **11.5.3** Upon termination by the Contractor in accordance with Paragraph 11.5, the Contractor shall be entitled to recover from the Owner payment for all Work executed and for any proven loss, cost or expense in connection with the Work, including all demobilization costs plus reasonable overhead and profit on Work not performed.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

15.04 CONTRACTOR MAY STOP WORK OR TERMINATE

- **A.** If, through no act or fault of Contractor, (i) the Work is suspended for more than 90 consecutive days by Owner or under an order of court or other public authority, or (ii) Engineer fails to act on any Application for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or (iii) Owner fails for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to be due, then Contractor may, upon seven days written notice to Owner and Engineer, and provided Owner or Engineer do not remedy such suspension or failure within that time, terminate the Contract and recover from Owner payment on the same terms as provided in Paragraph 15.03.
- **B.** In lieu of terminating the Contract and without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if Engineer has failed to act on an Application for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or Owner has failed for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to be due, Contractor may, seven days after written notice to Owner and Engineer, stop the Work until payment is made of all such amounts due Contractor, including interest thereon. The provisions of this Paragraph 15.04 are not intended to preclude Contractor from making a Claim under Paragraph 10.05 for an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times or otherwise for expenses or damage directly attributable to Contractor's stopping the Work as permitted by this Paragraph.

24. TERMINATION BY OWNER FOR CONTRACTOR'S DEFAULT

AIA-A201 (2007)

14.2 TERMINATION BY THE OWNER FOR CAUSE

- **14.2.1** The Owner may terminate the Contract if the Contractor:
- .1 repeatedly refuses or fails to supply enough properly skilled workers or proper materials;
- .2 fails to make payment to Subcontractors for materials or labor in accordance with the respective agreements between the Contractor and the Subcontractors;
- .3 repeatedly disregards laws, ordinances, or rules, regulations or orders of a public authority having jurisdiction; or
- .4 otherwise is guilty of substantial breach of a provision of the Contract Documents.
- **14.2.2** When any of the above reasons exist, the Owner, upon certification by the Architect that sufficient cause exists to justify such action, may without prejudice to any other rights or remedies of the Owner and after giving the Contractor and the Contractor's surety, if any, seven days' written notice, terminate employment of the Contractor and may, subject to any prior rights of the surety:
- .1 exclude the Contractor from the site and take possession of the site and of all materials, equipment, tools, and construction equipment and machinery thereon owned by the Contractor;
- .2 accept assignment of subcontracts pursuant to Section 5.4; and
- .3 finish the Work by whatever reasonable method the Owner may deem expedient. Upon request of the Contractor, the Owner shall furnish to the Contractor a detailed accounting of the costs incurred by the Owner in finishing the Work.
- **14.2.3** When the Owner terminates the Contract for one of the reasons stated in Section 14.2.1, the Contractor shall not be entitled to receive further payment until the Work is finished.
- **14.2.4** If the unpaid balance of the Contract Sum exceeds costs of finishing the Work, including compensation for the Architect's services and expenses made necessary thereby, and other damages incurred by the Owner and not expressly waived, such excess shall be paid to the Contractor. If such costs and damages exceed the unpaid balance, the Contractor shall pay the difference to the Owner. The amount to be paid to the Contractor or Owner, as the case may be, shall be certified by the Initial Decision Maker, upon application, and this obligation for payment shall survive termination of the Contract.

ConsensusDOCSTM-200 (2007)

11.3 OWNER'S RIGHT TO TERMINATE FOR DEFAULT

11.3.1 TERMINATION BY OWNER FOR DEFAULT. If, within seven (7) Days of receipt of a notice to cure pursuant to Paragraph 11.2, the Contractor fails to commence and satisfactorily continue correction of the default set forth in the notice to cure, the Owner may notify the Contractor that it intends to terminate this Agreement for default absent appropriate corrective action within fourteen additional Days. After the expiration of the additional fourteen (14) Day period, the Owner may terminate this Agreement by written notice absent appropriate corrective action. Termination for default is in addition to any other remedies available to Owner under Paragraph 11.2. If the Owner's cost arising out of the Contractor's failure to cure, including the cost of completing the Work and reasonable attorneys' fees, exceeds the unpaid Contract Price, the Contractor shall be liable to the Owner for such excess costs. If the Owner's costs are less than the unpaid Contract Price, the Owner shall pay the difference to the Contractor. In the event the Owner exercises its rights under this Paragraph 11.3, upon the request of the Contractor the Owner shall furnish to the Contractor a detailed accounting of the cost incurred by the Owner.

- 11.3.2 USE OF CONTRACTOR'S MATERIALS, SUPPLIES AND EQUIPMENT If the Owner or Others perform work under this Paragraph 11.3, the Owner shall have the right to take and use any materials, supplies and equipment belonging to the Contractor and located at the Worksite for the purpose of completing any remaining Work. Immediately upon completion of the Work, any remaining materials, supplies or equipment not consumed or incorporated in the Work shall be returned to the Contractor in substantially the same condition as when they were taken, reasonable wear and tear excepted.
- 11.3.3 If the Contractor files a petition under the Bankruptcy Code, this Agreement shall terminate if the Contractor or the Contractor's trustee rejects the Agreement or, if there has been a default, the Contractor is unable to give adequate assurance that the Contractor will perform as required by this Agreement or otherwise is unable to comply with the requirements for assuming this agreement under the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.
- **11.3.4** The Owner shall make reasonable efforts to mitigate damages arising from Contractor default, and shall promptly invoice the Contractor for all amounts due pursuant to Paragraphs 11.2 and 11.3.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

15.02 OWNER MAY TERMINATE FOR CAUSE

- **A.** The occurrence of any one or more of the following events will justify termination for cause:
- 1. Contractor's persistent failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents (including, but not limited to, failure to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable materials or equipment or failure to adhere to the Progress Schedule established under Paragraph 2.07 as adjusted from time to time pursuant to Paragraph 6.04);
- 2. Contractor's disregard of Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction;
- 3. Contractor's repeated disregard of the authority of Engineer; or
- **4.** Contractor's violation in any substantial way of any provisions of the Contract Documents.
- **B.** If one or more of the events identified in Paragraph 15.02.A occur, Owner may, after giving Contractor (and surety) seven days written notice of its intent to terminate the services of Contractor:
- 1. exclude Contractor from the Site, and take possession of the Work and of all Contractor's tools, appliances, construction equipment, and machinery at the Site, and use the same to the full extent they could be used by Contractor (without liability to Contractor for trespass or conversion),
- 2. incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the Site or for which Owner has paid Contractor but which are stored elsewhere, and
- 3. complete the Work as Owner may deem expedient.
- C. If Owner proceeds as provided in Paragraph 15.02.B, Contractor shall not be entitled to receive any further payment until the Work is completed. If the unpaid balance of the Contract Price exceeds all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) sustained by Owner arising out of or relating to completing the Work, such excess will be paid to Contractor. If such claims, costs, losses, and damages exceed such unpaid balance, Contractor shall pay the difference to Owner. Such claims, costs, losses, and damages incurred by Owner will be reviewed by Engineer as to their reasonableness and, when so approved by Engineer, incorporated in a Change Order. When exercising any rights or remedies under this Paragraph Owner shall not be required to obtain the lowest price for the Work performed.
- **D.** Notwithstanding Paragraphs 15.02.B and 15.02.C, Contractor's services will not be terminated if Contractor begins within seven days of receipt of notice of intent to terminate to correct its failure to perform and proceeds diligently to cure such failure within no more than 30 days of receipt of said

notice.

- **E.** Where Contractor's services have been so terminated by Owner, the termination will not affect any rights or remedies of Owner against Contractor then existing or which may thereafter accrue. Any retention or payment of moneys due Contractor by Owner will not release Contractor from liability.
- **F.** If and to the extent that Contractor has provided a performance bond under the provisions of Paragraph 5.01.A, the termination procedures of that bond shall supersede the provisions of Paragraphs 15.02.B, and 15.02.C.

25. TERMINATION FOR OWNER'S CONVENIENCE

AIA-A201 (2007)

14.4 TERMINATION BY THE OWNER FOR CONVENIENCE

- **14.4.1** The Owner may, at any time, terminate the Contract for the Owner's convenience and without cause.
- **14.4.2** Upon receipt of written notice from the Owner of such termination for the Owner's convenience, the Contractor shall:
- .1 cease operations as directed by the Owner in the notice;
- .2 take actions necessary, or that the Owner may direct, for the protection and preservation of the Work; and
- .3 except for Work directed to be performed prior to the effective date of termination stated in the notice, terminate all existing subcontracts and purchase orders and enter into no further subcontracts and purchase orders.
- **14.4.3** In case of such termination for the Owner's convenience, the Contractor shall be entitled to receive payment for Work executed, and costs incurred by reason of such termination, along with reasonable overhead and profit on the Work not executed.

ConsensusDOCSTM-A201 (2007)

11.4 TERMINATION BY OWNER FOR CONVENIENCE

- **11.4.1** Upon written notice to the Contractor, the Owner may, without cause, terminate this Agreement. The Contractor shall immediately stop the Work, follow the Owner's instructions regarding shutdown and termination procedures, and strive to minimize any further costs.
- **11.4.2** If the Owner terminates this Agreement pursuant to this Paragraph 11.4 the Contractor shall be paid for the Work performed to date and any proven loss, cost or expense in connection with the Work, including all demobilization costs and a premium as set forth below: (Insert here the amount agreed to by the parties.)
- **11.4.2.1** for the Work performed to date including overhead and profit;
- **11.4.2.2** for all demobilization costs and costs incurred as a result of the termination but not including overhead or profit on work not performed;
- **11.4.2.3** and shall receive a premium as set forth in a schedule below. (Insert here the schedule agreed to by the Parties.)
- **11.4.3** If the Owner terminates this Agreement pursuant to Paragraphs 11.3 or 11.4, the Contractor shall:
- **11.4.3.1** execute and deliver to the Owner all papers and take all action required to assign, transfer and vest in the Owner the rights of the Contractor to all materials, supplies and equipment for which payment has or will be made in accordance with the Contract Documents and all Subcontracts, orders and commitments which have been made in accordance with the Contract Documents;
- **11.4.4.2** exert reasonable effort to reduce to a minimum the Owner's liability for subcontracts, orders and commitments that have not been fulfilled at the time of the termination;
- 11.4.3.3 cancel any Subcontracts, orders and commitments as the Owner directs; and
- **11.4.3.4** sell at prices approved by the Owner any materials, supplies and equipment as the Owner directs, with all proceeds paid or credited to the Owner.

EJCDC-C700 (2007)

15.03 OWNER MAY TERMINATE FOR CONVENIENCE

A. Upon seven days written notice to Contractor and Engineer, Owner may, without cause and

without prejudice to any other right or remedy of Owner, terminate the Contract. In such case, Contractor shall be paid for (without duplication of any items):

- 1. completed and acceptable Work executed in accordance with the Contract Documents prior to the effective date of termination, including fair and reasonable sums for overhead and profit on such Work:
- 2. expenses sustained prior to the effective date of termination in performing services and furnishing labor, materials, or equipment as required by the Contract Documents in connection with uncompleted Work, plus fair and reasonable sums for overhead and profit on such expenses;
- **3.** all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) incurred in settlement of terminated contracts with Subcontractors, Suppliers, and others; and
- **4.** reasonable expenses directly attributable to termination.
- **B.** Contractor shall not be paid on account of loss of anticipated profits or revenue or other economic loss arising out of or resulting from such termination.

26. OWNERSHIP AND USE OF DESIGN DOCUMENTS

AIA-B101 (2007)

- 7.2 The Architect and the Architect's consultants shall be deemed the authors and owners of their respective Instruments of Service, including the Drawings and Specifications, and shall retain all common law, statutory and other reserved rights, including copyrights. Submission or distribution of Instruments of Service to meet official regulatory requirements or for similar purposes in connection with the Project is not to be construed as publication in derogation of the reserved rights of the Architect and the Architect's consultants.
- 7.3 Upon execution of this Agreement, the Architect grants to the Owner a nonexclusive license to use the Architect's Instruments of Service solely and exclusively for purposes of constructing, using, maintaining, altering and adding to the Project, provided that the Owner substantially performs its obligations, including prompt payment of all sums when due, under this Agreement. The Architect shall obtain similar nonexclusive licenses from the Architect's consultants consistent with this Agreement. The license granted under this section permits the Owner to authorize the Contractor, Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors, and material or equipment suppliers, as well as the Owner's consultants and separate contractors, to reproduce applicable portions of the Instruments of Service solely and exclusively for use in performing services or construction for the Project. If the Architect rightfully terminates this Agreement for cause as provided in Section 9.4, the license granted in this Section 7.3 shall terminate.
- **7.3.1** In the event the Owner uses the Instruments of Service without retaining the author of the Instruments of Service, the Owner releases the Architect and Architect's consultant(s) from all claims and causes of action arising from such uses. The Owner, to the extent permitted by law, further agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Architect and its consultants from all costs and expenses, including the cost of defense, related to claims and causes of action asserted by any third person or entity to the extent such costs and expenses arise from the Owner's use of the Instruments of Service under this Section 7.3.1. The terms of this Section 7.3.1 shall not apply if the Owner rightfully terminates this Agreement for cause under Section 9.4.
- **7.4** Except for the licenses granted in this Article 7, no other license or right shall be deemed granted or implied under this Agreement. The Owner shall not assign, delegate, sublicense, pledge or otherwise transfer any license granted herein to another party without the prior written agreement of the Architect. Any unauthorized use of the Instruments of Service shall be at the Owner's sole risk and without liability to the Architect and the Architect's consultants.

ConsensusDOCSTM-240 (2007)

- **10.1.2 USE OF DOCUMENTS IN EVENT OF TERMINATION** In the event of a termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article _____, the Owner shall have the right to use, to reproduce, and to make derivative works of the Documents to complete the Project, regardless of whether there has been a transfer of copyright under Subparagraph 10.1, provided payment has been made pursuant to Paragraph 10.1.
- **10.1.3 OWNER'S USE OF DOCUMENTS AFTER COMPLETION OF PROJECT** After completion of the Project, the Owner may reuse, reproduce or make derivative works from the Documents solely for the purpose of maintaining, renovating, remodeling or expanding the Project at the Worksite. The Owner's use of the Documents without the Architect/Engineer's involvement or any other projects is at the Owner's sole risk, except for the Architect/Engineer's indemnification obligations pursuant to Paragraph 3.9, and the Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless the Architect/Engineer and its consultants, and the agents, officers, directors and employees of each of them, from and against any and all claims, damages, losses, costs and experiences, including reasonable attorneys' fees and costs, arising out of or resulting from any such prohibited use.
- **10.1.4 ARCHITECT/ENGINEER'S USE OF DOCUMENTS** Where the Architect/Engineer has transferred its copyright interest in the Documents under Subparagraph 10.1.1, the Architect/Engineer may reuse Documents prepared by it pursuant to this Agreement in its practice, but only in their separate constituent parts and not as a whole.
- **10.1.5** The Architect/Engineer shall obtain from the consultants rights and rights of use that correspond to the rights given by the Architect/Engineer to the Owner in this Agreement and the Architect/Engineer shall provide evidence that such rights have been secured.

EJCDC-E500 (2002)

6.03 USE OF DOCUMENTS

- **A.** All Documents are instruments of service in respect to this Project, and Geotechnical Engineer shall retain an ownership and property interest therein (including the copyright and the right of reuse at the discretion of the Geotechnical Engineer) whether or not the Project is completed. Owner shall not rely in any way on any Document unless it is in printed form, signed or sealed by the Geotechnical Engineer or one of its Consultants.
- **B.** A party may rely that data or information set forth on paper (also known as hard copies) that the party receives from the other party by mail, hand delivery, or facsimile, are the items that the other party intended to send. Files in electronic media format of text, data, graphics, or other types that are furnished by one party to the other are furnished only for convenience, not reliance by the receiving party, unless otherwise agreed in writing. Any conclusion or information obtained or derived from such electronic files will be at the user's sole risk. If there is a discrepancy between the electronic files and the hard copies, the hard copies govern.
- E. Owner may make and retain copies of Documents for information and reference in connection with use on the Project by Owner. Engineer grants Owner a license to use the Documents on the Project, extensions of the Project, and other projects of Owner, subject to the following limitations: (1) Owner acknowledges that such Documents are not intended or represented to be suitable for use on the Project unless completed by Engineer, or for use or reuse by Owner or others on extensions of the Project or on any other project without written verification or adaptation by Engineer; (2) any such use or reuse, or any modification of the Documents, without written verification, completion, or adaptation by Engineer, as appropriate for the specific purpose intended, will be at Owner's sole risk and without liability or legal exposure to Engineer or to Engineer's Consultants; (3) Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless Engineer and Engineer's Consultants from all claims, damages, losses, and expenses, including attorneys' fees, arising out of or resulting from any use, reuse, or modification without written

verification, completion, or adaptation by Engineer; (4) such limited license to Owner shall not create any rights in third parties.

F. If Engineer at Owner's request verifies or adapts the Documents for extensions of the Project or for any other project, then Owner shall compensate Engineer at rates or in an amount to be agreed upon by Owner and Engineer.

27. CONSOLIDATION AND JOINDER

AIA-B101 (2007)

- **8.3.4.1** Either party, at its sole discretion, may consolidate an arbitration conducted under this Agreement with any other arbitration to which it is a party provided that (1) the arbitration agreement governing the other arbitration permits consolidation; (2) the arbitrations to be consolidated substantially involve common questions of law or fact; and (3) the arbitrations employ materially similar procedural rules and methods for selecting arbitrator(s).
- **8.3.4.2** Either party, at its sole discretion, may include by joinder persons or entities substantially involved in a common question of law or fact whose presence is required if complete relief is to be accorded in arbitration, provided that the party sought to be joined consents in writing to such joinder. Consent to arbitration involving an additional person or entity shall not constitute consent to arbitration of any claim, dispute or other matter in question not described in the written consent.
- **8.3.4.3** The Owner and Architect grant to any person or entity made a party to an arbitration conducted under this Section 8.3, whether by joinder or consolidation, the same rights of joinder and consolidation as the Owner and Architect under this Agreement.

ConsensusDOCSTM-240 (2007)

9.6 MULTIPARTY PROCEEDINGS The Owner and Architect/Engineer agree that all Parties necessary to resolve a claim shall be Parties to the same dispute resolution procedure. Appropriate provisions shall be included in all other contracts remitting to the Project to provide for the joinder or consolidation of such dispute resolution procedures.

EJCDC-E500 (2002)

H.6.09.A.5 If a Dispute in question between Owner and Engineer involves the work of a Contractor, subcontractor, or consultants to the Owner or Engineer (each a "Joinable Party"), either Owner or Engineer may join each Joinable Party as a party to the arbitration between Owner and Engineer hereunder, and Engineer or Owner, as appropriate, shall include in each contract with each such Joinable Party a specific provision whereby such Joinable Party consents to being joined in an arbitration between Owner and Engineer involving the work of such Joinable Party. Nothing in this Paragraph H6.08.A.5 nor in the provision of such contract consenting to joinder shall create any claim, right, or cause of action in favor of the Joinable Party and against Owner or Engineer that does not otherwise exist.

28. PAYMENT APPLICATION APPROVAL

AIA-B101 (2007)

3.6.3 CERTIFICATES FOR PAYMENT TO CONTRACTOR

- **3.6.3.1** The Architect shall review and certify the amounts due the Contractor and shall issue certificates in such amounts. The Architect's certification for payment shall constitute a representation to the Owner, based on the Architect's evaluation of the Work as provided in Section 3.6.2 and on the data comprising the Contractor's Application for Payment, that, to the best of the Architect's knowledge, information and belief, the Work has progressed to the point indicated and that the quality of the Work is in accordance with the Contract Documents. The foregoing representations are subject (1) to an evaluation of the Work for conformance with the Contract Documents upon Substantial Completion, (2) to results of subsequent tests and inspections, (3) to correction of minor deviations from the Contract Documents prior to completion, and (4) to specific qualifications expressed by the Architect.
- **3.6.3.2** The issuance of a Certificate for Payment shall not be a representation that the Architect has (1) made exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections to check the quality or quantity of the Work, (2) reviewed construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, (3) reviewed copies of requisitions received from Subcontractors and material suppliers and other data requested by the Owner to substantiate the Contractor's right to payment, or (4) ascertained how or for what purpose the Contractor has used money previously paid on account of the Contract Sum.
- **3.6.3.3** The Architect shall maintain a record of the Applications and Certificates for Payment.

ConsensusDOCSTM-240 (2002)

- **3.2.8.5** The Architect/Engineer shall assist the Owner in processing the Contractor's application for payment. Based on its on-site observations and other relevant information, the Architect/Engineer shall certify to the Owner the amounts due the Contractor and that the Work has progressed to the point indicated in the payment application based on the schedule of values submitted by the Contractor.
- **3.2.8.6** The Architect/Engineer's certification of payment shall not be a representation that the Architect/Engineer has:
- **a.** made exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections to check the quality or quantity of the Work;
- **b.** reviewed construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures for the Contractor's Work;
- **c.** reviewed copies of requisitions received from Subcontractor and Material Suppliers and other data requested by the Owner to substantiate the Contractor's right to payment; or
- **d.** ascertained how or for what purpose the Contractor has used money previously paid. The Architect/Engineer shall be entitled to rely on the Contractor's certification as to the application of moneys previously paid.

EJCDC-E500 (2002)

- **A.1.05.A.15 Applications for Payment.** Based on Engineer's observations as an experienced and qualified design professional and on review of Applications for Payment and accompanying supporting documentation:
- **a.** Determine the amounts that Engineer recommends Contractor be paid. Such recommendations of payment will be in writing and will constitute Engineer's representation to Owner, based on such observations and review, that, to the best of Engineer's knowledge, information and belief, Contractor's Work has progressed to the point indicated, the quality of such Work is generally in

accordance with the Contract Documents (subject to an evaluation of the Work as a functioning whole prior to or upon Substantial Completion, to the results of any subsequent tests called for in the Contract Documents, and to any other qualifications stated in the recommendation), and the conditions precedent to Contractor's being entitled to such payment appear to have been fulfilled in so far as it is Engineer's responsibility to observe Contractor's Work. In the case of unit price work, Engineer's recommendations of payment will include final determinations of quantities and classifications of Contractor's Work (subject to any subsequent adjustments allowed by the Contract Documents).

b. By recommending any payment, Engineer shall not thereby be deemed to have represented that observations made by Engineer to check the quality or quantity of Contractor's Work as it is performed and furnished have been exhaustive, extended to every aspect of Contractor's Work in progress, or involved detailed inspections of the Work beyond the responsibilities specifically assigned to Engineer in this Agreement and the Contract Documents. Neither Engineer's review of Contractor's Work for the purposes of recommending payments nor Engineer's recommendation of any payment including final payment will impose on Engineer responsibility to supervise, direct, or control Contractor's Work in progress or for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction or safety precautions or programs incident thereto, or Contractor's compliance with Laws and Regulations applicable to Contractor's furnishing and performing the Work. It will also not impose responsibility on Engineer to make any examination to ascertain how or for what purposes Contractor has used the moneys paid on account of the Contract Price, or to determine that title to any portion of the Work in progress, materials, or equipment has passed to Owner free and clear of any liens, claims, security interests, or encumbrances, or that there may not be other matters at issue between Owner and Contractor that might affect the amount that should be paid.

29. SUBMITTAL REVIEW

AIA-B101 (2007)

3.6.4 SUBMITTALS

- **3.6.4.1** The Architect shall review the Contractor's submittal schedule and shall not unreasonably delay or withhold approval. The Architect's action in reviewing submittals shall be taken in accordance with the approved submittal schedule or, in the absence of an approved submittal schedule, with reasonable promptness while allowing sufficient time in the Architect's professional judgment to permit adequate review.
- **3.6.4.2** In accordance with the Architect-approved submittal schedule, the Architect shall review and approve or take other appropriate action upon the Contractor's submittals such as Shop Drawings, Product Data and Samples, but only for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with information given and the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents. Review of such submittals is not for the purpose of determining the accuracy and completeness of other information such as dimensions, quantities, and installation or performance of equipment or systems, which are the Contractor's responsibility. The Architect's review shall not constitute approval of safety precautions or, unless otherwise specifically stated by the Architect, of any construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures. The Architect's approval of a specific item shall not indicate approval of an assembly of which the item is a component.
- **3.6.4.3** If the Contract Documents specifically require the Contractor to provide professional design services or certifications by a design professional related to systems, materials or equipment, the Architect shall specify the appropriate performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy. The Architect shall review shop drawings and other submittals related to the Work designed or certified by the design professional retained by the Contractor that bear such professional's seal and signature when submitted to the Architect. The Architect shall be entitled to rely upon the adequacy, accuracy and completeness of the services, certifications and approvals performed or provided by such design professionals.
- **3.6.4.4** Subject to the provisions of Section 4.3, the Architect shall review and respond to requests for information about the Contract Documents. The Architect shall set forth in the Contract Documents the requirements for requests for information. Requests for information shall include, at a minimum, a detailed written statement that indicates the specific Drawings or Specifications in need of clarification and the nature of the clarification requested. The Architect's response to such requests shall be made in writing within any time limits agreed upon, or otherwise with reasonable promptness. If appropriate, the Architect shall prepare and issue supplemental Drawings and Specifications in response to requests for information.
- **3.6.4.5** The Architect shall maintain a record of submittals and copies of submittals supplied by the Contractor in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents.

ConsensusDOCSTM-240 (2007)

3.2.8.1 The Architect/Engineer shall review the Contractor's submittals, including shop drawings, product data and samples and make approval of or recommendations about such submittals to the Owner within ten (10) days of receiving the submittals from the Contractor, unless mutually agreed otherwise by the Architect/Engineer, Contractor and Owner. The Architect/Engineer shall check the Contractor's submittals for conformance with the design and the scope of the Project and for compliance with the construction Documents. The Architect/Engineer's review shall not extend to the Contractor's means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, unless such means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures have been specified by the Owner or Architect/Engineer.

EJCDC-E500 (2002)

A.105.A.11 Shop Drawings and Samples. Review and approve or take other appropriate action in respect to Shop Drawings and Samples and other data which Contractor is required to submit, but only for conformance with the information given in the Contract Documents and compatibility with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Documents. Such reviews and approvals or other action will not extend to means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction or to safety precautions and programs incident thereto. Engineer shall meet any Contractor's submittal schedule that Engineer has accepted.

30. ON-SITE OBSERVATION

AIA-B101 (2007)

3.6.2 EVALUATIONS OF THE WORK

- **3.6.2.1** The Architect shall visit the site at intervals appropriate to the stage of construction, or as otherwise required in Section 4.3.3, to become generally familiar with the progress and quality of the portion of the Work completed, and to determine, in general, if the Work observed is being performed in a manner indicating that the Work, when fully completed, will be in accordance with the Contract Documents. However, the Architect shall not be required to make exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections to check the quality or quantity of the Work. On the basis of the site visits, the Architect shall keep the Owner reasonably informed about the progress and quality of the portion of the Work completed, and report to the Owner (1) known deviations from the Contract Documents and from the most recent construction schedule submitted by the Contractor, and (2) defects and deficiencies observed in the Work.
- **3.6.2.2** The Architect has the authority to reject Work that does not conform to the Contract Documents. Whenever the Architect considers it necessary or advisable, the Architect shall have the authority to require inspection or testing of the Work in accordance with the provisions of the Contract Documents, whether or not such Work is fabricated, installed or completed. However, neither this authority of the Architect nor a decision made in good faith either to exercise or not to exercise such authority shall give rise to a duty or responsibility of the Architect to the Contractor, Subcontractors, material and equipment suppliers, their agents or employees or other persons or entities performing portions of the Work.
- **3.6.2.3** The Architect shall interpret and decide matters concerning performance under, and requirements of, the Contract Documents on written request of either the Owner or Contractor. The Architect's response to such requests shall be made in writing within any time limits agreed upon or otherwise with reasonable promptness.
- **3.6.2.4** Interpretations and decisions of the Architect shall be consistent with the intent of and reasonably inferable from the Contract Documents and shall be in writing or in the form of drawings. When making such interpretations and decisions, the Architect shall endeavor to secure faithful performance by both Owner and Contractor, shall not show partiality to either, and shall not be liable for results of interpretations or decisions rendered in good faith. The Architect's decisions on matters relating to aesthetic effect shall be final if consistent with the intent expressed in the Contract Documents.
- **3.6.2.5** Unless the Owner and Contractor designate another person to serve as an Initial Decision Maker, as that term is defined in AIA Document A201–2007, the Architect shall render initial decisions on Claims between the Owner and Contractor as provided in the Contract Documents.

ConsensusDOCSTM-240 (2007)

3.2.8.3 The Architect/Engineer shall visit the Worksite at appropriate intervals, but not less than _______(______) times, or pursuant to such schedule as the Parties may establish by attachment of Exhibit F to this Agreement, to become generally familiar with the quality of the Work and to determine in general if the Work is proceeding in accordance with the Construction Documents. After each Worksite visit, the Architect/Engineer shall promptly provide the Owner with a written report. If the Architect/Engineer becomes aware of any defects or deficiencies in the Work, the Architect/Engineer shall provide prompt notice, followed by written confirmation, to the Owner. If, in the architect/Engineer's opinion, special testing or inspection of the Work is needed, the Architect/Engineer shall recommend such testing or inspection procedures and appropriate

consultants to the Owner. The Architect/Engineer shall not be responsible for construction means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures, unless they are specified by the Architect/Engineer, or for ensuring that the Work is in accordance with the Construction Documents.

EJCDC-E500 (2002)

A.105.A.7 Visits to Site and Observation of Construction. In connection with observations of Contractor's Work while it is in progress:

- **a.** Make visits to the Site at intervals appropriate to the various stages of construction, as Engineer deems necessary, to observe as an experienced and qualified design professional the progress and quality of Contractor's executed Work. Such visits and observations by Engineer, and the Resident Project Representative, if any, are not intended to be exhaustive or to extend to every aspect of Contractor's Work in progress or to involve detailed inspections of Contractor's Work in progress beyond the responsibilities specifically assigned to Engineer in this Agreement and the Contract Documents, but rather are to be limited to spot checking, selective sampling, and similar methods of general observation of the Work based on Engineer's exercise of professional judgment as assisted by the Resident Project Representative, if any. Based on information obtained during such visits and observations, Engineer will determine in general if the Work is proceeding in accordance with the Contract Documents, and Engineer shall keep Owner informed of the progress of the Work.
- **b.** The purpose of Engineer's visits to, and representation by the Resident Project Representative, if any, at the Site, will be to enable Engineer to better carry out the duties and responsibilities assigned to and undertaken by Engineer during the Construction Phase, and, in addition, by the exercise of Engineer's efforts as an experienced and qualified design professional, to provide for Owner a greater degree of confidence that the completed Work will conform in general to the Contract Documents and that Contractor has implemented and maintained the integrity of the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated in the Contract Documents. Engineer shall not, during such visits or as a result of such observations of Contractor's Work in progress, supervise, direct, or have control over Contractor's Work, nor shall Engineer have authority over or responsibility for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction selected or used by Contractor, for security or safety on the Site, for safety precautions and programs incident to Contractor's Work, nor for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to Contractor's furnishing and performing the Work. Accordingly, Engineer neither guarantees the performance of any Contractor nor assumes responsibility for any Contractor's failure to furnish and perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.

31. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS

AIA-B101 (2007)

10.6 Unless otherwise required in this Agreement, the Architect shall have no responsibility for the discovery, presence, handling, removal or disposal of, or exposure of persons to, hazardous materials or toxic substances in any form at the Project site.

ConsensusDOCSTM-240 (2007)

3.2.9 HAZARDOUS MATERIAL

3.2.9.1 A Hazardous Material is any substance or material identified as hazardous and or any federal, state or local law or regulation, or any other substance or material which may be considered hazardous or otherwise subject to statutory or regulatory requirement governing handling disposal or clean-up. To the extent not identified in this Agreement, if a Hazardous Material is discovered at the Worksite, the Architect/Engineer shall not be required to perform Services relating to or in the area of the Hazardous Material without written mutual agreement.

EJCDC-E500 (2002)

6.09 Environmental Condition of Site

- **A.** Owner has disclosed to Engineer in writing the existence of all known and suspected Asbestos, PCBs, Petroleum, Hazardous Waste, Radioactive Material, hazardous substances, and other Constituents of Concern located at or near the Site, including type, quantity, and location.
- **B.** Owner represents to Engineer that to the best of its knowledge no Constituents of Concern, other than those disclosed in writing to Engineer, exist at the Site.
- C. If Engineer encounters an undisclosed Constituent of Concern, then Engineer shall notify (1) Owner and (2) appropriate governmental officials if Engineer reasonably concludes that doing so is required by applicable Laws or Regulations.
- **D.** It is acknowledged by both parties that Engineer's scope of services does not include any services related to Constituents of Concern. If Engineer or any other party encounters an undisclosed Constituent of Concern, or if investigative or remedial action, or other professional services, are necessary with respect to disclosed or undisclosed Constituents of Concern, then Engineer may, at its option and without liability for consequential or any other damages, suspend performance of services on the portion of the Project affected thereby until Owner: (1) retains appropriate specialist consultant(s) or contractor(s) to identify and, as appropriate, abate, remediate, or remove the Constituents of Concern; and (2) warrants that the Site is in full compliance with applicable Laws and Regulations.
- **E.** If the presence at the Site of undisclosed Constituents of Concern adversely affects the performance of Engineer's services under this Agreement, then the Engineer shall have the option of (1) accepting an equitable adjustment in its compensation or in the time of completion, or both; or (2) terminating this Agreement for cause on 30 days notice.

Owner acknowledges that Engineer is performing professional services for Owner and that Engineer is not and shall not be required to become an "arranger," "operator," "generator," or "transporter" of hazardous substances, as defined in the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA), as amended, which are or may be encountered at or near the Site in connection with Engineer's activities under this Agreement.

32. INDEMNIFICATION AND CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES WAIVER

AIA-B101 (2007)

- **8.1.3** (B-103 ONLY) The Architect shall indemnify and hold the Owner and the Owner's officers and employees harmless from and against damages, losses and judgments arising from claims by third parties, including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses recoverable under applicable law, but only to the extent they are caused by the negligent acts or omissions of the Architect, its employees and its consultants in the performance of professional services under this Agreement. The Architect's duty to indemnify the Owner under this provision shall be limited to the available proceeds of insurance coverage.
- **8.1.3** The Architect and Owner waive consequential damages for claims, disputes or other matters in question arising out of or related to this Agreement. This mutual waiver is applicable, without limitation, to all consequential damages due to either party's termination of this Agreement, except as specifically provided in Section 9.7.

ConsensusDOCSTM-240 (2007)

5.4 LIMITED MUTUAL WAIVER OF CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES

- **5.4.1** The Owner and the Architect/Engineer waive claims against each other for consequential damages arising out of or relating to this Agreement, whether arising in contract, warranty, tort (including negligence), strict liability or otherwise, including but not limited to losses of use, profits, business, reputation or financing, except for those specific items of damages excluded from this waiver, as mutually agreed upon by the Parties and identified below. The Owner agrees to waive damages including but not limited to the Owner's loss of use of the Project, any rental expenses incurred, loss of income, profit or financing related to the Project, as well as the loss of business, loss of financing, principal office overhead and expenses, loss of profits not related to this Project, or loss of reputation. The Architect/Engineer agrees to waive damages including but not limited to loss of business, loss of financing, principal office overhead and expenses, loss of profits not related to this Project or loss of reputation. The following items of damages are excluded from this mutual waiver:
- **5.4.1.1** The provisions of this Paragraph shall also apply to the termination of this Agreement and shall survive such termination. The Owner and the Architect/Engineer shall require similar waivers in contract with their consultants retained for the Project.

7.1 INDEMNITY

- 7.1.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Architect/Engineer shall indemnify and hold harmless the Owner, the Owner's officers, directors, members, consultants, agents and employees, the Contractor, Subcontractors and Others (the Indemnitees) from and against all claims, losses, damages, liabilities, including reasonable attorneys' fees, costs and expenses, for bodily injury, sickness or death, and property damage (other than to the Work itself), that may arise from the performance of or the failure to perform Services under this Agreement, but only to the extent caused by the negligent acts or omissions of the Architect/Engineer, the Architect/Engineer's consultants or anyone employed directly or indirectly by any of them or by anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable. The Architect/Engineer shall be entitled to reimbursement of any defense costs paid above Architect/Engineer's percentage of liability for the underlying claim to the extent provided for under Paragraph 7.1.2. Nothing in this indemnity shall be construed to limit the insurance obligations agreed to herein.
- **7.1.2** To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless the Architect/Engineer, its officers, directors, members, consultants, agents, and employees, or anyone employed directly or indirectly by any of them or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable

from all claims for bodily injury and property damage, other than property insured under Subparagraph 10.3.1, including reasonable attorneys' fees, costs and expenses, that may arise from the performance of work by Owner or Others, but only to the extent caused by the negligent acts or omissions of the Owner or Others. The Owner shall be entitled to reimbursement of any defense costs paid above Owner's percentage of liability for the underlying claim to the extent provided for under Paragraph 7.1.1.

7.1.3 NO LIMITATION ON LIABILITY. In any and all claims against the Indemnitees by any employee of the Architect/Engineer, anyone directly or indirectly employed by the Architect/Engineer or anyone for whose acts the Architect/Engineer may be liable, the indemnification obligation shall not be limited in any way by any limitation in the amount or type of damages, compensation or benefits payable by or for the Architect/Engineer under Workers' Compensation acts, disability benefit acts or other employee benefit acts.

EJCDC-E500 (2002)

6.10 Indemnification and Mutual Waiver

- **A. Indemnification by Engineer**. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Engineer shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner, and Owner's officers, directors, partners, agents, consultants, and employees from and against any and all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals, and all court, arbitration, or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the Project, provided that any such claim, cost, loss, or damage is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself), including the loss of use resulting therefrom, but only to the extent caused by any negligent act or omission of Engineer or Engineer's officers, directors, partners, employees, or Consultants. The indemnification provision of the preceding sentence is subject to and limited by the provisions agreed to by Owner and Engineer in Exhibit I, "Allocation of Risks," if any.
- **B.** Indemnification by Owner. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless Engineer, Engineer's officers, directors, partners, agents, employees, and Consultants from and against any and all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals, and all court, arbitration, or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the Project, provided that any such claim, cost, loss, or damage is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself), including the loss of use resulting therefrom, but only to the extent caused by any negligent act or omission of Owner or Owner's officers, directors, partners, agents, consultants, or employees, or others retained by or under contract to the Owner with respect to this Agreement or to the Project.
- C. Environmental Indemnification. In addition to the indemnity provided under Paragraph 6.10.B of this Agreement, and to the fullest extent permitted by law, Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless Engineer and its officers, directors, partners, agents, employees, and Consultants from and against any and all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys and other professionals, and all court, arbitration, or other dispute resolution costs) caused by, arising out of, relating to, or resulting from a Constituent of Concern at, on, or under the Site, provided that (i) any such claim, cost, loss, or damage is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself), including the loss of use resulting therefrom, and (ii) nothing in this paragraph shall obligate Owner to indemnify any individual or entity from and against the consequences of that individual's or entity's own negligence or willful misconduct.

- **D.** Percentage Share of Negligence. To the fullest extent permitted by law, a party's total liability to the other party and anyone claiming by, through, or under the other party for any cost, loss, or damages caused in part by the negligence of the party and in part by the negligence of the other party or any other negligent entity or individual, shall not exceed the percentage share that the party's negligence bears to the total negligence of Owner, Engineer, and all other negligent entities and individuals.
- **E. Mutual Waiver**. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Owner and Engineer waive against each other, and the other's employees, officers, directors, agents, insurers, partners, and consultants, any and all claims for or entitlement to special, incidental, indirect, or consequential damages arising out of, resulting from, or in any way related to the Project.